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*Statistics in this report, including those in the financial statements, mainly cover the
period from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025. Some of the statistics have been updated to

September 2025, where appropriate, to reflect the updated situation.
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To provide full support to the Communications
Authority in fulfilling its vision that Hong Kong
has the world-class communications services to

meet the challenges of the information age.
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We are committed to -

Public - Fulfilling the needs and expectations
of the community

Industry - Providing a fair regulatory
environment conducive to innovation and
business investment

Economy - Maintaining Hong Kong’s position
as a pre-eminent communications centre in
the region to support economic development
Staff - Maintaining a cohesive, versatile and
professional team and nurturing a working
environment that recognises and rewards results
Civil Service - Being a model department that
performs effectively and efficiently
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 Integrity - Neutrality, impartiality,
transparency, accountability, openness

* Professionalism - Expertise, discipline,
credibility, ethics, commitment

» Respect for the Community, Clients
and Staff - Freedom of expression,
responsiveness, understanding,
efficiency, effectiveness

» Foresight - A proactive attitude,
anticipation, awareness
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Remarks:

Mr Tony LI, JP commenced pre-retirement leave on 17 Feb 2025, and Ms Jenny CHOI, JP assumed the post of Deputy Director-General
(Broadcasting) on 20 Mar 2025.

Mr T S CHEW commenced pre-retirement leave on 10 Mar 2025, and Mr Wilson S LEE assumed the post of Assistant Director (Operations)
on the same day.

Senior Management
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While Hong Kong’s economy gradually revived, the
communications market continued to grow and
provided sturdy support to other sectors during
2024/25. The Office of the Communications
Authority (OFCA) will stay focused on fostering a
robust and forward-looking communications sector,
as well as reinforcing Hong Kong’s role as a regional
communications hub.
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| am pleased to present the 2024/25 Trading
Fund annual report prepared by OFCA. This
report provides an overview of how Hong Kong’s
communications market has been performing,
highlights our key progress and achievements
over the past year, as well as outlines the steps
we have taken to support further development in
the communications sector.

Market Overview

Over the past year, Hong Kong’s communications
sector continued to perform well. Despite a
complex and changing economic landscape, the
industry stayed strong and robust, reflecting its
resilience and ability to navigate challenges as the
broader economy made steady progress.

Telecommunications Market

Hong Kong has one of the most advanced
and competitive mobile service market in the

SCHEZBEXRZTLHNRAIFIER  AEBRTEEHRE
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An extensive 5G coverage supports a great variety of
innovative applications and brings about new business
opportunities to various sectors in Hong Kong.

#EFE2025%3H8
As at March 2025
SFERIS RS

Mobile Service Subscriptions

27,807,759

Penetration Rate

360

MEEIEAE (KFH)
Mobile Data Usage (terabytes)

252,983

5GHE
5G Subscribers

8,805,542

(o2 O

world. As of March 2025, there were around
27.8 million mobile service subscriptions -
equivalent to a penetration rate of almost
360%, one of the highest globally. Along with
economic transformation, mobile data usage has
kept increasing. Users consumed approximately
252 983 terabytes of mobile data, or about 33 GB
per capita, marking a 16% increase year on year.

Local mobile network operators (MNOs) have
been actively expanding their fifth generation
(5G) networks. Today, 5G coverage reaches
all populated areas, major shopping centres,
and MTR stations. With around 8.8 million 5G
subscribers, representing over 116% of the
population, high-speed mobile connectivity has
become essential to meeting the needs of Hong
Kong people. This widespread adoption is paving
the way for new innovative applications and
business opportunities across various industries.

Chapter 1 | Message from the Director-General
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Staff members of OFCA conducting an inspection on a
mobile radio system in a construction site.
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On the fixed broadband front, household
penetration remained high at over 97%, with
around 87% of these households connected via
optical fibre. Fibre technology is the backbone
of Hong Kong’s fixed network, offering fast and
reliable internet access for both individuals and
businesses. Over 71% of households were using
high-speed broadband services at speeds of
1 Gbps or above.

Broadcasting Market

The broadcasting sector also maintained steady
development in 2024/25. Viewers in Hong
Kong could have access to over 700 local,
Chinese Mainland (the Mainland) and overseas
TV programme channels in multiple languages,
available through free-to-air, pay and satellite TV
services. There are also 14 local radio programme
channels available. Thanks to Hong Kong’s
strategic location and robust communications
infrastructure, the city continues to serve as a
regional hub for satellite broadcasting. Currently,
nine non-domestic television programme service
licensees are operating around 150 satellite
TV channels across the Asia-Pacific region.
Under the Government's Open Sky Policy,
local audiences can also access about 500 free
satellite channels.

Highlights of Our Work in 2024/25

Below is an overview of the key initiatives and
measures of OFCA over the past year:

Telecommunications Services

To support the continued rollout of advanced
mobile services, two spectrum auctions were
held in November 2024 with 110 MHz of
spectrum in the 850/900 MHz, and 2.3 GHz
bands, and 300 MHz of spectrum in the newly
introduced 6/7 GHz band acquired by MNOs for
the provision of public mobile communications
services. The release of spectrum in the 6/7 GHz
band, which is suitable for the deployment of

2024/25 Trading Fund Report
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current 5G and future sixth generation (6G)
mobile services, not only made Hong Kong
the global first mover in the release of relevant
frequency band for 6G development, but
also demonstrated our vision for the long-term
development of the mobile market. The spectrum
in the 6/7 GHz band was assigned in March
2025, while the spectrum in the 850/900 MHz
and 2.3 GHz bands will be re-assigned when
current assignments expire in May 2026 and
March 2027 respectively. In addition, OFCA
administratively assigned another 1 200 MHz
of spectrum in the 26/28 GHz band to MNOs
in August 2024 for provision of 5G or more
advanced mobile services.

OFCA is also closely monitoring global and
regional trends in spectrum planning to stay
aligned with international developments. OFCA
continues to follow up on the use of various
frequency bands identified at the 2023 World
Radiocommunication Conference held by
the International Telecommunication Union
(ITU), ensuring the allocation for different
radiocommunications services in Hong Kong.

To support MNOs to expand their 5G
networks, OFCA has been facilitating the
installation of radio base stations (RBSs) at
government premises and public facilities
such as phone kiosks, bus stops, and smart
lamp posts. A major policy milestone was
the enactment of the Telecommunications
(Amendment) Ordinance 2024 in February
2024. This facilitates MNOs' access to
reserved space in new and redeveloped
buildings - commercial, industrial, residential,
and hotels - for installation and maintenance
of mobile communications facilities. The new
requirement took effect on 1 October 2024
and will apply to specified buildings with
building plans approved from 1 April 2025
onwards. New government buildings and public
housing will follow suit. The arrangement will
help further expand and improve the mobile
coverage and capacity across the city.

Chapter 1 | Message from the Director-General
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Staff members of OFCA monitored radio spectrum and 5G
performance at the Youth Sports Ground during the stress
test of Kai Tak Sports Park.
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From 31 December 2024 onwards, when local mobile and
fixed services users answer calls from newly activated
local pre-paid SIM cards, mobile service providers will first
play a voice alert message stating “This call is made from
a new pre-paid SIM card”, in Cantonese and Putonghua,
before the call is connected, in order to assist the public
in staying vigilant to suspicious calls.




To boost 5G performance at major public event
venues, OFCA has been working with MNOs,
venue operators, and government departments
to streamline the approval and installation
procedures to facilitate prompt installation of
RBSs. These efforts have already enhanced 5G
services at key locations including the Central
Harbourfront Event Space, Hong Kong Coliseum,
Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre,
AsiaWorld-Expo, Victoria Park and Kai Tak Sports
Park. These installations enhance 5G network
capacity and ensure smoother connectivity for
users participating in large-scale events.

Looking ahead, more spectrum will be made
available to support the development of 5G
and more advanced mobile services (including
6G), with another auction involving a total of
50 MHz in the 2.5/2.6 GHz band to be held in
the fourth quarter of 2025. MNOs will continue
to benefit from full tax deductions on spectrum
utilization fees under the Inland Revenue
(Amendment) (Tax Deductions for Spectrum
Utilization Fees) Ordinance 2024, which came
into effect in January 2024. These efforts aim
to ensure that Hong Kong is better placed to
support more advanced and wider applications of
communications technology.

Another major project in 2024/25 is the
preparatory work of the Subsidy Scheme to
Extend 5G Coverage in Rural and Remote
Areas, which was announced in the 2023 Policy
Address to further enhance the mobile network
infrastructure in rural and remote areas. OFCA
completed the industry and district consultations
on the proposed framework and site locations
under the scheme. Following funding approval
by the Legislative Council (LegCo), OFCA will
launch the scheme in 2025 in phases, with new
RBSs installation completed and put into service
within four years after launching the scheme,
thus improving the quality of life of the people
and safeguarding the safety of activities in rural
and remote areas. Besides, OFCA has been
implementing the Subsidy Scheme to Extend
Fibre-based Networks to Villages in Remote
Areas, with a total budget of HK$770 million
since 2019. As of March 2025, over 220 out of
235 villages have already been connected by

2024/25 Trading Fund Report
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fibre. OFCA will keep on monitoring the progress
to ensure that all the targeted villages will be
connected by 2026.

i
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Staff members of OFCA together with representatives
of mobile network operators and other government
departments conducting site survey on country parks’
mobile network facilities.

To address the public concerns on phone scams,
OFCA has been working closely with the Police
and telecommunications service providers (TSPs)
through the establishment of a working group
in September 2022 to devise and implement a
variety of technical measures to combat phone
scams while at the same time coordinated public
education efforts. One of the key new initiatives
introduced in 2024/25 was the introduction of
voice alerts for calls made from newly activated
local prepaid SIM (PPS) cards. This measure
was successfully rolled out by the industry and
complemented existing safeguards, such as
blocking suspicious +852 calls originating from
outside Hong Kong, issuing voice or text alerts
before such calls are received, and suspending
services for local numbers that show suspicious
calling or messaging patterns. As of March 2025,
TSPs had blocked around 5.3 million suspicious
+852 calls, suspended about 1.4 million local
numbers, and issued over 30 million alerts for
+852 calls and 14.8 million alerts for calls from
newly activated PPS cards.

Chapter 1 | Message from the Director-General
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Look for a Hashtag “#£”
for Registered Senders!

"B A BEES), RERDE
SMS Sender Registration Scheme
has been launched

g SMS

8 #Bank A
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‘SMS senders, all comparies or organisations particpating in
)

using "Registered SMS Sender IDs" with prefix "¥" to send
'SMS’ to local subscribers of mobile services in Hong Kong?.
Major banks, telecommunications service providers and some
government departments have joined the Scheme. Other
organisations wil follow progressively.

BE2025538 - EABBE4IORKES HEIGH
BXNEECH o

As at March 2025, more than 490 organisations
have joined the SMS Sender Registration
Scheme.

PHE—TRVEHBFEITEERNFE - BAMPEERE
MEAE  BREMRYN EHBEFETEREFTE B
TEEHRE BRI REREFEHEREEEN
EREHAMZREHEERE - UREHERERBARE
—EEFE B RITEFENIRE - H2024F6AH#E - REL
BT% (BEEEH - R BM - BFFO X5 HE
RERBEAITR) NI12EREE2EE - LHHHH
BHTR -

13 B—E | BERS

= OFCAEE
12l &5 85 6 55 17 3% M & 5t B Ry @h 78
Launch Ceremony of the E
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Industry Regulatory Scheme for Marketing Calls
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The Commerce and Economic Development Bureau and
OFCA jointly hosted the Launch Ceremony of the Enhanced
Industry Regulatory Scheme for Marketing Calls on 26
June 2024. Mr Algernon Yau, Secretary for Commerce and
Economic Development, and Mr Chaucer Leung, Director-
General of Communications, posed for a group photo
with other officiating guests and representatives of trade
associations.
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OFCA launched the SMS Sender Registration
Scheme in December 2023 to help the public
verify the identity of SMS senders. Under this
scheme, all Registered Senders have to use a
sender ID with the prefix “#” when sending SMS
messages to local mobile users. Starting from
February 2024, the scheme has been open to all
sectors for application. As of March 2025, more
than 490 organisations - including TSPs, banks,
and 77 government departments and statutory
bodies - have joined the scheme. OFCA will
continue to encourage wider participation to
improve the security and credibility of SMS
and provide better protection to members of
the public.

To further minimise the inconvenience that
may be caused by marketing calls, OFCA has
worked with industry stakeholders to implement
self-regulation through the enhanced Industry
Regulatory Scheme for Marketing Calls. The
enhancement includes requiring telemarketers
to provide their names and contact numbers
upon recipients’ requests, as well as limiting
the number of calls made to the same number
within a specific timeframe. Since June 2024,
twelve trade associations from seven sectors,
including finance, insurance, telecommunications,
call centres, beauty, estate agencies, and money
lenders, have joined the scheme and issued their
respective code of practice.

Support on Development of Low-altitude
Economy

The low-altitude economy (LAE), which refers to
economic activities taking place in airspace below
1 000 metres, is creating new possibilities in
areas such as aerial surveillance, terrain mapping
and logistics. Under the 2024 Policy Address,

2024/25 Trading Fund Report
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the Government has established the Working
Group on Developing LAE (WG) to formulate
development strategies and inter-departmental
action plans, starting with projects on
low-altitude applications. OFCA actively
participated in the WG and contributed from the
telecommunications perspective to support the
development of LAE.

Protection of Critical Infrastructure in
Telecommunications and Broadcasting
Sectors

The LegCo passed the Protection of Critical
Infrastructures (Computer Systems) Bill on 19
March 2025. The Ordinance aims to strengthen
cybersecurity for critical infrastructure, among
which, telecommunications and broadcasting
sectors have been covered under the Ordinance
with Communications Authority (CA) being specified
as a designated authority to oversee the relevant
obligations of the critical infrastructure operators
under the Ordinance. OFCA will support CA on
the implementation of the Ordinance which will
take effect on 1 January 2026 to ensure that the
telecommunications and broadcasting sectors would
properly discharge the relevant statutory obligation
to protect critical infrastructure in both sectors.

Chapter 1 | Message from the Director-General
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Staff members of OFCA having a discussion on spectrum planning.
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Staff members of OFCA carrying out an inspection on the
optical fibre cables installed under the Subsidy Scheme to
Extend Fibre-based Networks to Villages in Remote Areas.



Streamlining the Vetting Procedures of
Licence Applications for Operating Low
Earth Orbit Satellites

Separately, the 2024 Policy Address announced
that the Government would conduct a study on
streamlining the vetting procedures of licence
applications for operating Low Earth Orbit (LEO)
satellites. The aim is to enhance Hong Kong's
attractiveness and competitiveness in the global
satellite communications market. The 2025-26
Budget further elaborated that OFCA has
been assisting the Commerce and Economic
Development Bureau (CEDB) in completing the
study within 2025.

Broadcasting Services

To track changes in the viewing and listening
habits of the public and gauge their views
on television programme services and sound
broadcasting services, OFCA commissioned
a broadcasting service survey in 2024. The
results, released in February 2025, will serve as
a useful reference for CA in processing licence
renewal applications from major TV and sound
broadcasters whose licences are due to expire in
2027 and 2028.

In 2024/25, OFCA supported CA in preparing for
the licence renewal exercise of the three domestic
free television programme service (free TV)
licensees - HK Television Entertainment Company

BN A HESREERSE HENERTESHEIBER
BB -

OFCA giving a facilitation talk on radio programme
standards for participants of Community Involvement
Broadcasting Service.
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Limited (HKTVE), i-CABLE HOY Limited (i-CABLE
HQY), and Television Broadcasts Limited (TVB).
These licences are due to expire between March
2027 and May 2028. CA will carry out a detailed
assessment of each licensee’s performance before
submitting its recommendations to the Chief
Executive in Council (CE in C) for consideration.

Major Challenges Ahead

On the broadcasting front, OFCA will be rendering
full support to CA in conducting the licence renewal
exercises for the free TV licences of HKTVE,
i-CABLE HOY and TVB. Amongst others, CA will
conduct a consolidated public consultation exercise
for the three free TV licensees in the third quarter
of 2025. OFCA will also assist CA in evaluating the
past performance of the licensees and their future
plans. CA's recommendations will then be submitted
to CE in C by March 2026.

On the telecommunications front, following the
joint statement issued by CA and the Secretary
for Commerce and Economic Development on
1 April 2025 regarding the re-assignment of 50
MHz of spectrum in the 2.5/2.6 GHz band and
the related spectrum utilization fee, OFCA will
support CA in conducting a spectrum auction for
this re-assignment in the fourth quarter of 2025.

After the enactment of the Telecommunications
(Amendment) Ordinance 2024, OFCA will
continue to support CA in administering
authorisations under the amended section 14 of
the Telecommunications Ordinance (Cap. 106)
(TO). We will also work closely with the Buildings
Department and other relevant government
departments to ensure unified implementation of
the new arrangement.

To support the Government’s initiative to expand
mobile network infrastructure in rural and remote
areas, OFCA will launch the Subsidy Scheme to
Extend 5G Coverage in Rural and Remote Areas
in July 2025. With funding of around HK$150
million, the scheme will subsidise MNOs to
build new RBSs at about 50 locations, including
country parks, outlying islands, and other
rural and remote areas. OFCA will monitor the
implementation closely, with the aim of having all
RBSs in service within four years.

Chapter 1 | Message from the Director-General
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Members of the public can complete real-name registration
on TSPs’ online registration platforms through “IAM Smart”.
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The Real-name Registration Programme for
Subscriber Identification Module (SIM) Cards
(RNR Programme) was fully implemented
in February 2023. From 1 October 2024,
TSPs began using “iAM Smart” as the default
registration method for Hong Kong identity
card holders, making the process more secure
and convenient. OFCA is providing support to
CEDB in reviewing the implementation of the
RNR Programme, with a view to introducing the
relevant legislative amendments into LegCo for
scrutiny. Subject to the legislative proposals, we
will also revise the relevant guidelines, mount the
publicity campaign as well as work closely with
the enforcement agencies and TSPs to ensure
smooth implementation of the strengthened
RNR Programme.

Combating fraudulent calls and messages is an
ongoing task for OFCA. Apart from overseeing
the effective implementation of the RNR
Programme and the SMS Sender Registration
Scheme, we will continue to work with the
Police and the telecommunications industry, as
well as exchange experiences with regulators in
other economies, to enhance existing measures
and introduce new ones with a view to better
protecting telecommunications service users
from deception.

To support the development of LAE, OFCA
will continue to actively participate in the WG,
contributing from the telecommunications
perspective. Besides, OFCA will closely monitor
developments in the telecommunications market of
the Mainland and worldwide, particularly in relation
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to the use of dedicated spectrum for unmanned
aircraft systems, to ensure that spectrum planning
in Hong Kong aligns with the Mainland and other
advanced economies, thereby promoting the
development of LAE activities in Hong Kong.

To lead and promote next generation communications
technology and applications, OFCA will assist CA
in hosting the 6G Global Summit in Hong Kong
in May 2025, marking the first Summit to be held
in the Asia-Pacific region. OFCA will continue
to take part in the relevant international forums
for highlighting Hong Kong's role as a regional
communications hub, showcasing the city’s
achievements in advanced telecommunications
development and telling the good stories of Hong
Kong on the global stage.

All in all, despite the heavy workload in 2024/25,
it was once again a rewarding year for OFCA. We
successfully completed the long list of tasks as
planned, reflecting the strong commitment and
professionalism of our colleagues, as well as their
dedication to serving the public. | would also like
to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt
gratitude for the guidance of the Chairman and
Members of CA, and for the continued support
from our licensees. Their contributions have
been vital in helping us meet our regulatory
objectives. Looking ahead, OFCA is committed
to supporting CA and working hand in hand with
the communications industry to foster a vibrant
and prosperous communications market - one
that continues to serve the public interest and
reinforces Hong Kong’s position as a renowned
communications hub in the region.

Chapter 1 | Message from the Director-General
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CA released the major findings of the Broadcasting
Service Survey in February 2025.
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Staff members of OFCA monitoring the digital terrestrial
television signals.
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Broadcasting Service Survey

OFCA commissioned an independent survey firm
to conduct a survey on broadcasting services in
2024. The purpose of the survey was to track
changes in public viewing and listening habits
and gather opinions on broadcasting services.
It covered the services provided by free TV,
domestic pay television programme service
and sound broadcasting licensees. The survey
findings were released in February 2025.

The survey findings reveal, amongst other things,
that while free TV service remains prevalent
among public viewers, the availability and
growing popularity of Internet-based media
and other online services are posing significant
challenges to traditional broadcasting services.
89.5% of respondents had watched free TV
programmes, and 38.8% had listened to radio
programmes in the month prior to the survey.
On average, they spent 2.6 hours per day
watching free TV programmes and 2.2 hours per
day listening to radio programmes. The findings
also indicated that respondents were generally
satisfied with the variety of programmes offered
by licensed broadcasters.

The information and statistics obtained from
the survey will serve as a valuable reference for
CA in processing licence renewal applications
from major TV and sound broadcasting licensees
whose licences are due to expire in 2027 and 2028.

Licence Administration

Applications for Renewal of Free TV
Licences

The free TV licences of HKTVE, TVB and i-CABLE
HQY are due to expire in March 2027, November
2027 and May 2028 respectively. Under the
Broadcasting Ordinance (Cap. 562), free TV
licensees are required to submit licence renewal
applications at least 24 months before their
licence expiry.

2024/25 Trading Fund Report
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Staff members of OFCA testing the compatibility of
radio signals re-broadcast in the tunnel with sound
broadcasting signals.
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Staff members of OFCA using radio propagation simulation
software to conduct television signal coverage assessment.

Upon receipt of the licence renewal applications,
CA will initiate the review process. CA will
also conduct public consultation exercises to
gauge public opinion on the services, including
a consolidated consultation for the three free
TV licensees in the third quarter of 2025. The
consultation will include a public opinion survey,
a televised online public hearing and focus group
discussions. OFCA will assist CA in reviewing the
past performance and future commitments of
the licensees, as well as the views of the industry
and the public, with the aim of submitting
recommendations to CE in C on the licence
renewal applications by March 2026.

Chapter 2 | Development of the Broadcasting Industry
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Ms Winnie Tam, then CA Chairman completed her term
of office in end March 2025. Ms Maggie Wong, CA
Vice-Chairman (Permanent Secretary for Commerce
and Economic Development) and Mr Chaucer Leung, CA
Member (Director-General of Communications) expressed
gratitude to Ms Tam on behalf of CA for her unrivalled
contribution to the work of CA and the development of
the industries over the years.

BABEHETEER  IREHERRBAENRESE -

CA holds meeting regularly to discuss regulatory
issues related to broadcasting and telecommunications
industries.
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Renewal of Non-domestic Television
Programme Service and Other Licensable
Television Programme Service Licences

In 2024/25, OFCA processed two applications for
renewal of non-domestic television programme
service licences and one application for renewal
of other licensable television programme service
licence for television programme services provided
in hotel rooms in Hong Kong. All these applications
were approved by CA.

Cross-boundary Coordination
for Broadcasting Frequencies

OFCA holds regular meetings with the Mainland
authorities to coordinate broadcasting frequencies
for use in Guangdong and Hong Kong. Regarding
the launch of a new FM programme channel
(i.e. Radio The Greater Bay) by Radio Television
Hong Kong (RTHK), OFCA assigned the full set
of FM frequencies to RTHK, which completed
the territory-wide broadcasting of the channel in
December 2024.

To support the future development of Digital
Terrestrial Television (DTT) services in Hong
Kong, OFCA will continue to coordinate with the
Mainland authorities to identify additional DTT
frequency channels for use in Hong Kong.

Handling of Broadcast
Complaints

It is the standing practice that CA does not
pre-censor broadcast content. Instead, it adopts
a complaint-driven approach to ensure that
broadcast content complies with prevailing
legislation, licence conditions and the codes of
practice it has issued. As the executive arm of
CA, OFCA assists in handling complaints about
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broadcast materials in accordance with the
provisions in the Broadcasting (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 391) (B(MP)O) and
the broadcast complaint handling procedures
of CA.

In 2024/25, OFCA handled 1 090 cases
(involving 2 561 complaints)!, which represented
a significant decrease of 39% in the number
of cases and 69% in the number of complaints
processed?, as compared with the figures
in 2023/24 (1 783 cases, involving 8 216
complaints). Among these, five cases (involving
752 complaints) were referred to the
Broadcast Complaints Committee under CA
for consideration before submission to CA for
deliberation and determination. All complaint
cases considered by CA are published on its
website. The remaining 1 085 cases (involving
1 809 complaints) relating to minor breaches or
allegations which did not constitute any breach
or fell outside the remit of section 11(1) of the
B(MP)O (i.e. the substance of the complaints
did not involve contravention of relevant
legislation, licence conditions or provisions in
the codes of practice), were handled by the
Director-General of Communications under
CA's delegated authority.

S

AP B IE 7 R IR R M B IR IR R -

Staff members of OFCA handling broadcast complaints.

1 To ensure operational efficiency, complaints with similar allegations relating to the same issue or broadcast material are

grouped and counted as a single case.

2 The significant decrease in the number of complaints was mainly due to the fact that there was a case in 2023/24 that

involved over 4 600 complaints.
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5G coverage in Hong Kong has already exceeded 99%.
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Facilitating 5G Developments

Making Spectrum Available in Multiple
Frequency Bands

The emergence of 5G technology unlocks
transformative opportunities for service
innovation and smart city ecosystems, enabling
advancements in areas such as the internet of
things, remote operations, telemedicine and
intelligent transportation systems. With the
widespread deployment of 5G in Hong Kong,
mobile users now benefit from enhanced
services featuring high speed, high capacity and
ultra-reliable connectivity.

As of end March 2025, CA had assigned a total
of 3 630 MHz of radio spectrum in various low,
mid and high frequency bands, namely 700 MHz,
3.3 GHz, 3.5 GHz, 4.9 GHz, 6/7 GHz and 26/28
GHz for public mobile telecommunications use,
including the provision of 5G services. Since
the launch of commercial 5G services on 1 April
2020, as of end March 2025, 5G coverage in
Hong Kong has exceeded 99%, covering all
populated districts, major shopping malls and
MTR stations.

e Making Available Additional 5G Spectrum
to Meet Market Demand

To meet the growing demand for innovative
5G applications in terms of speed, capacity and
coverage, OFCA supported CA in making available
additional spectrum in different frequency bands
to meet market demand. Following the spectrum
auction held in November 2024, 300 MHz of
spectrum in the newly introduced 6/7 GHz
band was assigned to MNOs in March 2025 for
the provision of public mobile communications
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services. The release of spectrum in the 6/7
GHz band, which is suitable for the current
5G and future 6G deployment, made Hong
Kong the first mover in the release of relevant
spectrum for future 6G development. OFCA also
administratively assigned another 1 200 MHz
of the non-shared spectrum in the 26/28 GHz
band to MNOs for the provision of 5G or more
advanced mobile services in August 2024.

e Completion of Re-assignment of Frequency
Spectrum in the 850/900 MHz and 2.3 GHz
Bands

The current assignments of 20 MHz of spectrum
in the 850/900 MHz band and 90 MHz of
spectrum in the 2.3 GHz band are set to expire
in May 2026 and March 2027 respectively.
Pursuant to the spectrum auction conducted in
November 2024, the re-assignment of spectrum
in the 850/900 MHz and 2.3 GHz bands will take
effect in June 2026 and March 2027 respectively.

@ Preparing for Re-assignment of Frequency
Spectrum in the 2.5/2.6 GHz Band

As announced in the 2024 Policy Address, the
Government will continue to make available more
suitable radio spectrum to the market in a timely
manner to support a wider and more advanced
applications of communications technology
(including 6G). The current assignments of the
remaining 50 MHz of spectrum in the 2.5/2.6
GHz band will expire in May 2028. OFCA
supported CA and Secretary for Commerce
and Economic Development in conducting a
joint public consultation in September 2024 on
the re-assignment arrangements as well as the
related spectrum utilization fees. Pursuant to
the above decision, the spectrum concerned is
targeted to be re-assigned by way of auction in
the fourth quarter of 2025.

Chapter 3 | Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market
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Staff members of OFCA together with representatives
from the relevant FNO carrying out acceptance work on a
telecommunications manhole installed under the Subsidy
Scheme to Extend Fibre-based Networks to Villages in
Remote Areas.
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Implementation of the Subsidy Scheme
to Extend Fibre-based Networks to
Villages in Remote Areas

To support the Government’s policy initiative to
improve network coverage in remote areas, OFCA
continued to implement the subsidy scheme with
a funding of HK$770 million to provide financial
incentives for fixed network operators (FNOs)
to extend fibre-based networks to 235 villages
across nine districts in the New Territories and
outlying islands in phases by 2026, benefiting
approximately 110 000 villagers.

The 235 villages were grouped under six tender
projects (namely, Project 1 to Project 6), which
were awarded under the subsidy scheme between
November 2019 and May 2020. Selected FNOs
were entrusted to roll out fibre-based lead-in
connections to the villages concerned, and lay
three submarine fibre-based cables connecting
Lamma Island to Hong Kong Island (under Project
5), as well as Cheung Chau to Lantau Island and
Peng Chau to Lantau Island (under Project 6)
respectively. To facilitate market competition,
the selected FNOs are required to open up at
least half of capacity of the network facilities and
submarine fibre-based cables subsidised under
the subsidy scheme for use by other FNOs free
of charge.

As of March 2025, the selected FNOs have
extended their fibre-based networks to over 220
villages and completed the rollout of the three
submarine fibre cables connecting Lamma lIsland,
Cheung Chau and Peng Chau. OFCA will continue
to supervise the implementation of the subsidy
scheme, and it is expected that fibre-based
networks will be extended to all villages covered
by the subsidy scheme by 2026.
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With the extension of the fibre-based networks,
not only will the villagers concerned be able to
enjoy high-speed fixed broadband services, but
MNOs will also be able to use the new networks
as backhaul for their mobile networks, enabling
the provision of high-speed and innovative
mobile services, including 5G services, to the
areas concerned.

Ensuring Availability of Space in and
Access to New Buildings for Installation
of Mobile Communications Facilities

Under the amended section 14 of the TO,
which took effect on 1 October 2024 pursuant
to the enactment of the Telecommunications
(Amendment) Ordinance 2024, MNOs authorised
by CA can access reserved space in specified
buildings (including new and redeveloped
commercial, industrial, residential and hotel
buildings) with building plans approved on or
after 1 April 2025, to install and maintain mobile
communications facilities without paying a
fee to the land owners concerned. In addition,
new government buildings and public housing
will also follow suit. The arrangement will help
further expand the mobile network coverage
and capacity in Hong Kong. OFCA assisted CA
in the promulgation of the “Code of Practice
for the Provision of Mobile Access Facilities in
Specified Buildings for the Provision of Public
Mobile Radiocommunications Services”, which
sets out specific requirements for developers
and MNOs regarding the installation of mobile
communications facilities in specified buildings.
OFCA will continue to support the administration
of CA’s authorisation to MNOs under the
amended section 14 of the TO and work closely
with the Buildings Department and other relevant
government departments to ensure unified
implementation of the new arrangement.
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Staff members of OFCA conducting a roadblock operation to
inspect the mobile radio station in vehicles.
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Staff members of OFCA conducting a non-ionising radiation
measurement for the residents near RBSs.
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Staff members of OFCA conducting a measurement on 5G
network performance during a rugby test event at the Youth
Sports Ground of Kai Tak Sports Park.



Facilitating the Rollout of 5G Networks

Owing to the characteristics of 5G, more
RBSs are required to be installed to provide
comprehensive coverage. To facilitate the
expedient and effective rollout of the 5G
network, OFCA has, since March 2019,
introduced the streamlined application procedure
(SAP) to open up more than 1 500 suitable
government premises for MNOs to install
RBSs. OFCA has set up a dedicated team to
coordinate with MNOs and relevant government
departments to process applications under
the SAP. OFCA issued the “Guidance Notes
for Submission of Applications under the Pilot
Scheme for Installation of Radio Base Stations at
Selected Government Venues”, setting out the
principles and requirements for submitting and
processing applications via SAP. As an incentive
for MNOs, a nominal rental of HK$1 per year
is charged for each RBS installed. As of March
2025, 252 applications were received under the
scheme, of which 139 were approved.

Apart from government premises, the
Government has established mechanisms
to facilitate MNOs’ installation of RBSs at
sheltered bus stops and public payphone kiosks.
To facilitate MNOs’ access to these facilities,
OFCA issued the “Guidelines on the Use of
Public Payphone Kiosks for the Installation
of Radio Base Stations for Provision of Public
Mobile Services” and the “Guidelines on the
Use of Sheltered Bus Stops for the Installation
of Radio Base Stations for Provision of Public
Mobile Services” in April and November 2020,
respectively. As of March 2025, 15 applications
for installation of RBS at sheltered bus stops
and one application for installation at public
payphone kiosks were approved. Moreover,
the Government will reserve available space
and loading capacity at multi-functional smart
lampposts in various districts for RBS installation
to further expand the 5G network coverage.

OFCA will continue to work with the industry and
relevant government departments in identifying
suitable public facilities for RBS installation and
facilitating technical trials.

Coordination with Relevant Organisations
to Enhance 5G Network Capacity at
Major Public Event Venues

The 2023 Policy Address announced that the
Government would proactively coordinate with
relevant organisations to enhance 5G network
capacity at major public event venues. To
implement this initiative, OFCA has been actively
coordinating with relevant stakeholders, including
government departments, venue managers and
MNOs. As of March 2025, additional RBSs were
installed to enhance 5G coverage and network
capacity in major public event venues, including
the Central Harbourfront Event Space, Hong
Kong Coliseum, Hong Kong Convention and
Exhibition Centre, AsiaWorld-Expo, Victoria Park
and Kai Tak Sports Park. OFCA will continue
to coordinate with relevant organisations to
enhance mobile communications facilities at
major event venues to ensure that the public
and event participants can enjoy quality
communications services and to provide high-
level telecommunications infrastructure
that reinforces Hong Kong's position as an
international hub for mega events.
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Staff members of OFCA monitoring 5G performance when
spectators leaving Kai Tak Sports Park in a stress test event.
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Staff members of OFCA introducing the proposed framework
for the Subsidy Scheme to Extend 5G Coverage to Rural and
Remote Areas to the Rural Committees of North District.
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Staff members of OFCA investigating a radio interference incident.



Subsidy Scheme to Extend 5G Coverage
in Rural and Remote Areas

The 2023 Policy Address announced that the
Government would enhance 5G coverage by
expediting the expansion of mobile network
infrastructure in rural and remote areas through
subsidies. To take forward the initiative, OFCA
completed the industry and local consultations
on the proposed framework and site locations
for a subsidy scheme to extend 5G coverage
in rural and remote areas. The subsidy scheme
will provide financial incentive to MNOs to
encourage them to install RBSs at about 50
sites to enhance mobile network coverage in
country parks, outlying islands, and other rural
and remote areas, with a view to improving the
quality of life in these areas and safeguarding the
safety of rural activities.

Upon approval of the relevant funding (around
HK$150 million) by the LegCo, OFCA will launch
the subsidy scheme in July 2025. Application
guidelines, setting out detailed procedures for
MNOs to submit applications for subsidy under
the scheme and MNOs’ obligations, will be issued.
OFCA will closely monitor the implementation of
the subsidy scheme. It is expected that all RBSs
under the subsidy scheme will be installed and
put into service progressively within four years
after the launch of the subsidy scheme.

Lifting the “3.5 GHz Restriction Zone” in
Tai Po

Following the reallocation of the 3.4 - 3.6 GHz
(3.5 GHz) band from fixed satellite service to
mobile service with effect from 1 April 2020,
two restriction zones in Tai Po and Stanley were
delineated to ensure the coexistence of 5G
services and the earth stations for telemetry,
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tracking, and control of the licensed satellites in
orbit (TT&C stations) operating in the same and
adjacent bands. With OFCA’s assistance, one
satellite operator has been granted a land lot
for relocating its TT&C stations in the 3.5 GHz
band from Tai Po to the Teleport, while another
satellite operator has undertaken to install
satellite band-pass filters at its satellite facilities
to prevent radio interference. As the relocation
of the TT&C stations was completed in October
2024, the “3.5 GHz restriction zone” in Tai Po
was lifted with effect from 31 October 2024.

Ensuring Timely Supply of
Suitable Spectrum to Meet

the Needs of Emerging New
Radiocommunications Services

OFCA has kept up with worldwide development
trends in telecommunications and participates
in related international/regional meetings of
the ITU, Asia-Pacific Telecommunity, and other
organisations. OFCA has also maintained close
dialogue with industry players in Hong Kong
to keep abreast of the development of the
telecommunications industry. OFCA assisted
CA in allocating additional frequency bands to
relevant radiocommunications services in Hong
Kong in accordance with the outcomes of the
World Radiocommunication Conference of
the ITU in 2023. In addition, based on OFCA'’s
recommendations, CA will issue the Spectrum
Release Plan for 2025 to 2027 in July 2025 to
inform the industry of the potential supply of
spectrum for the provision of public mobile and/
or other radiocommunications services over
the next three years. Taking note of market
developments, OFCA will continue to assist CA in
ensuring the timely supply of additional spectrum
to the industry.
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Implementation of Real-name
Registration Programme for SIM
Cards

Pursuant to the Telecommunications (Registration
of SIM Cards) Regulation (Cap. 106Al), the RNR
Programme has been fully implemented since
February 2023. It requires that all SIM cards issued
and used locally (including SIM service plans and
PPS cards) must complete real-name registration
before service activation. CA has issued the
“Guidelines on Implementation of Real-name
Registration for SIM Cards” (the RNR Guidelines)
to provide guidance and detailed requirements of
the RNR Programme for TSPs.

Since the full implementation of the RNR
Programme, OFCA has carried out ongoing
monitoring and enforcement actions to ensure
that TSPs and other relevant parties comply with
the requirements of the Telecommunications
(Registration of SIM Cards) Regulation (Cap.
106Al1) and the RNR Guidelines. OFCA has

WS ERERENERBEH T ETERAHE -

Staff members of OFCA conducting a regular check on the
RNR Programme platforms provided by TSPs.

worked with TSPs, reminding them to enhance
their registration platforms and strengthen the
inspection of registration records. Among others,
they have adopted “iIAM Smart” as the default
registration method for Hong Kong identity card
holders in completing real-name registration of
PPS cards starting from 1 October 2024. For
PPS cards with registration made by non-HKID
holders via the online registration platform,
TSPs will conduct manual checking to verify the
authenticity of the identification documents of
the users after their completion of RNR. If any
registration of PPS cards are found to be non-
compliant with the regulatory requirements
(e.g. suspected use of forged documents for
registration), the relevant PPS cards will be
deactivated by TSPs.

OFCA will continue to work with TSPs to conduct
sample checks on registration information
to safeguard the integrity of the registration
records. OFCA will continue enforcement and
monitoring actions, including verification of
TSPs’ registration platforms, ad hoc market
surveillances, and inspection of registration
records. Ongoing publicity efforts will also
be arranged to raise public awareness of the
requirements of the RNR Programme.

OFCA is providing support to CEDB in reviewing
the implementation of the RNR Programme, with
a view to introducing the relevant legislative
amendments into LegCo for scrutiny. Subject
to the legislative proposals, we will also revise
the relevant guidelines, mount the publicity
campaign as well as work closely with the
enforcement agencies and TSPs to ensure
smooth implementation of the strengthened
RNR Programme.
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vigilant against suspicious calls.
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The SMS Sender Registration Scheme has opened for
application by all sectors starting from February 2024.
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Tackling Fraudulent Calls and
Messages

OFCA has been working closely with the
telecommunications industry and the Police
to devise and implement a variety of technical
measures against fraudulent calls and messages
delivered through telecommunications networks.
Since 2023/24, the telecommunications industry
has implemented measures to block suspicious
calls prefixed with “+852” originating from outside
Hong Kong, as well as to send voice or text alerts
to mobile service users before receiving such calls
prefixed with “+852”. As of March 2025, TSPs had
blocked about 5.3 million suspicious calls prefixed
with “+852”, and mobile service providers had issued
more than 30 million “+852” voice or text alerts.

Besides, OFCA formulated a code of practice
requiring TSPs to monitor calls and SMS
originating from their networks since end June
2023 and August 2024, respectively. Should
call or SMS patterns indicate suspected phone
deception, the services of the relevant telephone
numbers will be suspended. As of March 2025,
about 1.4 million local telephone numbers had
been suspended in accordance with the code of
practice. OFCA also issued a code of practice
in October 2024 to provide practical guidance
to TSPs for promulgating anti-scam messages
to subscribers of public telecommunications
services in Hong Kong through their publicity
channels and means.

To further assist the public in staying vigilant
against suspicious calls, starting from 31
December 2024, when local mobile and fixed
services users answer calls from newly activated
mobile PPS cards, mobile service providers will
first play a voice alert stating “Call made from
a new pre-paid SIM card” in Cantonese and
Putonghua before connecting the call. As of
March 2025, mobile service providers had played
about 14.8 million voice alerts.

2024/25 Trading Fund Report
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Implementation of the SMS
Sender Registration Scheme

To help the public verify the authenticity of
SMS senders, OFCA collaborated with the
telecommunications industry, the banking
industry and the Police to establish the SMS
Sender Registration Scheme. Under the scheme,
Registered Senders must use Registered SMS
Sender IDs with the prefix “#” to send SMS
messages to local mobile service subscribers.

All other SMS messages sent via mobile service
providers in Hong Kong with sender IDs containing
“#” but not sent by Registered Senders will be
blocked by the telecommunications networks. The
scheme has been implemented since 28 December
2023, and was open for application by all sectors
starting from February 2024. Major TSPs, banks,
government departments, statutory bodies,
companies and organisations from various sectors
(e.g. public utilities, retail, education, insurance
and credit finance, etc.) have joined the scheme
progressively. As of March 2025, more than 490
companies and organisations had participated
in the scheme. OFCA will continue to publicise
the scheme and encourage more industries and
organisations to join.

Implementation of Protection
of Critical Infrastructures
(Computer Systems) Ordinance
(Cap. 653)

LegCo passed the Protection of Critical
Infrastructures (Computer Systems) Bill on 19
March 2025. The Ordinance aims to implement
the 2023 Policy Address initiative to legislate
for cybersecurity of critical infrastructure, under
which CA is being specified as the designated
authority for the telecommunications and
broadcasting sectors. The Protection of Critical
Infrastructures (Computer Systems) Ordinance
(Cap. 653) will come into operation on 1
January 2026. OFCA will support CA on the
implementation arrangements of the Ordinance.
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A staff member of OFCA testing Smart Kiosk services
in Central.
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Staff members of OFCA conducting an inspection on
SMATYV systems.



Trial of Smart Payphone Kiosks

With the support of OFCA and other government
departments, PCCW-HKT Telephone Limited
and Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT)
Limited launched a trial of smart payphone
kiosks (Smart Kiosks) in March 2023 to revitalise
traditional kiosk-type public payphones. Two
trial Smart Kiosks were installed in Causeway
Bay and Central in April and May 2023,
respectively. Apart from public payphone and
free WiFi services, the Smart Kiosks also provide
information services such as transportation and
nearby public facilities, contact information
for social welfare services, tips for caregivers,
and news and weather updates, as well as
a USB charging port available to the public
free of charge. OFCA will continue to provide
coordination support for the trial.

Development of Fixed
Broadband Services

Along with the ongoing network expansion of
FNOs, Hong Kong has achieved a high level of
broadband service penetration. As of March 2025,
there were around three million residential and
commercial fixed broadband subscriptions, with a
household penetration rate exceeding 97%. Among
these, around 87% of households were enjoying
fixed broadband services via optical fibre. In
particular, over 71% of households were using fixed
broadband services at the speed of 1 Gbps or above.

According to a report issued by the Fibre to the
Home Council Europe in March 2025, among
the 86 economies under comparison, Hong Kong
ranked fifth worldwide in fibre-to-home/building
household penetration.

Facilitating the Landing of New
Submarine Cable Systems in
Hong Kong

Being a major regional telecommunications hub with
sound and excellent external telecommunications
infrastructure, Hong Kong has 12 submarine cable
systems and operates 10 satellites for external
communications. OFCA has been facilitating
operators in obtaining statutory approvals for
the laying and landing of new submarine cable
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systems in Hong Kong from relevant government
departments. With the support of OFCA's single-
point-of-contact service, several new regional
and transcontinental submarine cable systems are
under construction and are scheduled to be put into
service between 2025 and 2029.

Assessing the Use of the Sites
Granted for Telecommunications
Use

OFCA has been providing technical support and
advice to the Government on assessing the use of
sites granted for telephone exchanges and other
telecommunications-related facilities.

Enhancement of Licensing
Regime for Various Types of
Licences

To align with the Government’s policy to improve
regulatory measures with a view to enhancing
Hong Kong’s competitiveness, OFCA supported
CA in enhancing the licensing regime for four
types of licences, namely Ship Station Licence,
Broadcast Radio Relay Station Licence, Hotel
Television (Transmission) Licence and Satellite
Master Antenna Television Licence, by extending
the validity period of these licences from one
year to two years. This change aims to enhance
regulatory certainty for the licensees. This two-
year licensing arrangement took effect from
March 2024. OFCA will extend this arrangement
to other types of licences issued under the TO in
2025 to 2026.

Development of Hong Kong’s
Satellite Networks

Since satellite spectrum and orbital positions
are scarce and invaluable resources, their use by
communications satellites should comply with
the coordination and notification requirements
of ITU. OFCA supports satellite operators in
coordinating with foreign administrations and
assists in processing licences for the operation of
satellites in space orbits. As of end March 2025,
three satellite operators were licensed in Hong
Kong to track, control and conduct telemetry for
a total of ten geostationary satellites in orbit.

Chapter 3 | Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market
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Setting and Enforcing
Telecommunications Standards

OFCA keeps abreast of international developments
in telecommunications standardisation and updates
local technical standards in order to meet the
needs of the industry and the public. In 2024/25,
one new technical standard and three revised
technical standards - governing RBSs for public
mobile services, WiFi equipment and radiation
safety of wireless devices - were approved and
issued by CA.

Qualified local and overseas testing laboratories
now provide testing and certification services
for various types of telecommunications
equipment in accordance with technical
standards prescribed by CA. In particular, a
full range of telecommunications equipment
testing and certification services is offered by
local laboratories accredited by CA as local
certification bodies (LCBs). In 2024/25, LCBs
and foreign certification bodies issued 630
equipment certificates to meet the needs of the
telecommunications equipment market.

To ensure that all LCBs providing telecommunications
equipment testing and certification services meet
the required service quality and performance
standards, OFCA will continue to closely monitor
their performance through regular documentary
checks, on-site visits and reviews. So far, all
LCBs have complied with the requirements set
by OFCA.

Streamlining the Vetting
Procedures of Licence
Applications for Operating LEO
Satellites

Under current statutory requirements in
Hong Kong, satellite operators are required to
obtain the Outer Space Licence (OSL) issued
by the Chief Executive under the Outer Space
Ordinance (Cap. 523) and the Space Station
Carrier Licence (SSCL) issued by CA under the TO
for each satellite operated in Hong Kong. Since

LEO satellites are operated in constellation that
comprising tens or hundreds of LEO satellites,
there is a need to consider how the licensing
arrangements will be formulated based on the
actual circumstances of LEO satellites.

The 2024 Policy Address and the 2025-26
Budget announced that the Government would
conduct a study on streamlining the vetting
procedures of licence applications for operating
LEO satellites. The aim is to enhance Hong
Kong's attractiveness and competitiveness in the
global satellite communications market. OFCA
has been assisting CEDB in completing the study
by 2025.

Support on Development of LAE

LAE, which refers to economic activities
taking place in airspace below 1 000 metres, is
creating new possibilities in areas such as aerial
surveillance, drone delivery, terrain mapping
and building inspection. Under the 2024 Policy
Address, the Government has established the WG
to formulate development strategies and inter-
departmental action plans, starting with projects
on low-altitude applications. OFCA actively
participated in the WG and contributed from the
telecommunications perspective to support the
development of LAE.

Among the various infrastructure facilities,
public mobile network is an indispensable part
for promoting low-altitude flying activities.
At present, unmanned aircrafts for aerial
photography or performances can generally
use the shared 2.4 GHz and 5 GHz bands
assigned for wireless local area networks, or the
fourth generation (4G) or 5G mobile networks
for remote control, data transmission, and
positioning purposes. OFCA will continue to
closely monitor telecommunications market
developments in the Mainland and worldwide,
including the designation of dedicated spectrum
bands for the exclusive use by UAS, so as to
ensure that the spectrum planning in Hong Kong
aligns with the Mainland and other advanced
economies, thereby promoting the development
of LAE activities in Hong Kong.
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Staff members of OFCA handle public enquiries
and complaints related to broadcasting and
telecommunications matters in writing, through email and
hotline.
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Handling and Investigation

of Competition Complaints

in the Telecommunications
and Broadcasting Sectors, and
Mergers & Acquisitions in the
Telecommunications Sector

The Competition Ordinance (Cap. 619) (CO)
provides a cross-sectoral competition law
prohibiting anti-competitive conduct in all sectors.
Under the CO, CA is conferred concurrent
jurisdiction with the Competition Commission
to enforce the CO in respect of the conduct of
undertakings operating in the telecommunications
and broadcasting sectors, including merger and
acquisition activities involving carrier licensees in
the telecommunications sector.

Pursuant to the memorandum of understanding
signed by CA and the Competition Commission, CA
will ordinarily assume the role of lead authority for
matters falling within the concurrent jurisdiction.
For matters involving issues that are partly within
and partly outside the concurrent jurisdiction, CA
and the Competition Commission will discuss and
agree on the best arrangement for handling the
matter on a case-by-case basis.

From 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025, a total of
18 complaints and enquiries were received under
the CO, all of which were closed without the
need for further action.

During the year, OFCA also assisted CA in
reviewing two transactions under the merger rule
of the CO. The reviews are currently in progress.

2024/25 Trading Fund Report
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Handling and Investigation
of Complaints about Unfair
Trade Practices in the
Telecommunications and
Broadcasting Sectors

The fair trading sections of the Trade Descriptions
Ordinance (Cap. 362) (TDO) prohibit certain
specified unfair trade practices by traders in the
provision of goods and services to consumers.

CA is conferred concurrent jurisdiction with the
Customs and Excise Department to enforce the
fair trading sections of the TDO regarding the
commercial practices of licensees under the TO
and the Broadcasting Ordinance (Cap. 562) that
are directly connected with the provision of
telecommunications and broadcasting services.
The two enforcement agencies have entered into
a memorandum of understanding to coordinate
the performance of their functions under the fair
trading sections of the TDO and have issued a set
of enforcement guidelines to provide guidance
for traders and consumers on the operation of
the fair trading sections.

From 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025, OFCA
handled a total of 297 complaint cases under
the TDO. Among these, 233 cases were closed
due to insufficient evidence to establish a
contravention or because they fell outside the
scope of the TDO. Four cases were closed after
CA issued advisory letters to the licensees
concerned, drawing their attention to the subject
matter and providing advice on improving their
relevant commercial practices in relation to the
sale, supply or promotion of telecommunications
or broadcasting services to consumers. The
remaining 60 cases were under processing.

Chapter 4 | Facilitating Market Competition and Strengthening Consumer Protection
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Enforcement of the Unsolicited
Electronic Messages Ordinance

Do-Not-Call Registers

CA has established three Do-Not-Call (DNC)
Registers - for facsimile messages, short
messages and pre-recorded telephone messages
- under the Unsolicited Electronic Messages
Ordinance (Cap. 593) (UEMO). No commercial
electronic messages (CEMs) shall be sent to
registered telephone numbers unless the senders
have obtained consent from the registered
users. As of March 2025, these DNC Registers
contained more than 2.8 million telephone
numbers. In addition to refraining from sending
CEMs to the registered telephone numbers on
the DNC Registers, senders of CEMs are also
required under the UEMO to comply with a
number of rules. For example, they must provide
the recipients with their contact information
and an “unsubscribe facility” in their CEMs so
that the recipients can contact the senders and
unsubscribe from receiving their CEMs.

In 2024/25, OFCA received 553 reports
regarding suspected contraventions of the
UEMO, a decrease of about 20% from the
previous year. A majority of these reports were
related to pre-recorded telephone messages and
short messages. OFCA will continue to monitor
compliance and streamline procedures for more
effective enforcement.

Enforcement

OFCA will take enforcement actions on cases
suspected of contravening the UEMO. Generally
speaking, for cases where the number of
reports received against a sender is below a
certain threshold, OFCA will issue an advisory
letter reminding the sender to observe the
requirements under the UEMO. In cases where
the number of reports received against a sender
exceeds the threshold, or if OFCA continues to
receive reports against the same sender after the
issuance of advisory letter, OFCA will conduct
formal investigation and may issue a warning
letter to the sender. In 2024/25, a total of 51
advisory letters and 11 warning letters were
issued. Cases in which senders of CEMs rectified
their breaches after receiving advisory or warning
letters were not subject to further enforcement

2024/25 Trading Fund Report
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actions, such as the issuance of enforcement
notices to the senders of CEMs.

In the event of repeated contraventions by a
sender of CEMs, CA may issue an enforcement
notice in accordance with section 38 of the
UEMO, directing the sender to take steps to
remedy the contravention. In 2024/25, a total of
two enforcement notices were issued. Anyone
who fails to comply with an enforcement notice
may be liable to a fine of up to HK$100,000 on
first conviction.

Enhanced Industry Regulatory Scheme
for Marketing Calls

To strike a balance between the need for
business operation and minimising nuisance
that may be caused by marketing calls, the
Government has adopted a pragmatic and
effective approach by actively collaborating with
trade associations across different industries to
manage marketing calls.

Since 2010, the Government has encouraged
trade associations of four industries, namely,
finance, insurance, telecommunications and
call centres to implement an industry scheme
for managing marketing calls, with a view to
minimising the inconvenience to the public. Since
2011, these associations have issued their codes
of practice with reference to the Benchmark
Code of Practice on Person-to-Person Marketing
Calls (Benchmark CoP) formulated by the then
Office of the Telecommunications Authority.

To further expand and strengthen the industry
regulation of marketing calls, OFCA revised the
Benchmark CoP in April 2024 with enhancements
such as requiring telemarketers to provide their
names and contact numbers upon recipients’
requests, as well as limiting the number of calls
made by telemarketers to the same telephone
number within a specific timeframe.

Apart from the four existing sectors, OFCA
also invited three new sectors, namely beauty,
estate agencies and money lenders, to join the
enhanced scheme. Since June 2024, a total of 12
trade associations from these seven sectors have
participated in the enhanced scheme and issued
their respective codes of practice with reference
to the revised Benchmark CoP issued by OFCA.

Chapter 4 | Facilitating Market Competition and Strengthening Consumer Protection
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Continued Efforts to Strengthen
Consumer Protection in the Use
of Telecommunications Services

Self-Regulatory Measures Voluntarily
Implemented by the Industry

To safeguard consumer interests in the use
of telecommunications services, OFCA takes
proactive actions to implement various consumer
protection measures and works with the industry
to draw up and implement self-regulatory
measures for addressing emerging consumer
issues from time to time.

These measures include the voluntary Customer
Complaint Settlement Scheme (CCSS) administered
by the Communications Association of Hong
Kong representing the industry. The CCSS aims
to help resolve billing disputes in deadlock
between TSPs and their customers through
mediation.

Other self-regulatory measures voluntarily
implemented by the industry include the promulgation
of the Code of Practice for Telecommunications
Service Contracts, which aims at improving the clarity
of provisions in the telecommunications service
contracts as well as the Code for the Provision of
Chargeable Mobile Content Services, which governs
the practices of third-party content service providers.

2024/25 Trading Fund Report
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Other examples include the implementation
of mobile bill shock preventive measures and
the publication on OFCA’s website of the
arrangements adopted by major residential
broadband service providers for handling service
termination requests from consumers.

OFCA will continue to monitor the implementation
and effectiveness of the various consumer
protection measures adopted and, where necessary,
engage the industry to seek further enhancement of
the existing measures or introduce new ones.

Broadband Performance Test System

Since December 2010, OFCA has been providing
a broadband performance test system which
enables broadband service users to measure the
performance of their broadband connections,
including download and upload speeds, network
latency, packet loss and jitter. Apart from users
of desktop and notebook computers, users
of smart phones and tablets running iOS and
Android operating systems may also make use of
the test system.

From the launch of the service to March 2025,
about 129 million broadband performance tests
were conducted with the use of the system. We
will continue to monitor the technology and market
developments for provision of the test service.

Chapter 4 | Facilitating Market Competition and Strengthening Consumer Protection
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OFCA actively organises the Consumer Education
Campaign every year to enhance public knowledge of
smart use of communications services. The activities
include community talks, roving drama for schools, school
talks and mini exhibitions.

@ FHE | (BETERFMIBAREREEE

BEESEAOES - BELE - RFIFEY - BEFERARNHE
BRER - NEMERBRRIRERFTLLE HREHRETR
REXEHARERT  AEGFRERREE ZALBESER
2NBENBERASHELNE - HKRBIRBE113H/NE
BiE2 9001 fFm - HEEHB EBNHEMERSENE
RE - it EMBREE - URBRKEEIXRE @ REQR
1ePr BEE R FEENEFSR

RESERHEBELAB ZPNIE  BAMRETMESR
HN—DBEBHEER > SRS TABFFRRAT &
A BTl - UEFBARITRERERENE
e WEEARERAREBBEEAEN - kA - MEEE
#» 'EFFEER AREEERA M TEERTAR
INDATRRE) MEHEREGEAREAERET &
BMN2024F 7B R2025F1BH#H - B—EEFEARE
HRETREAECHENEEATHNERZFERER
B EEARMARESNMBEEREFMEETRTH
HIEEHEL -

g3+ 288 Y
G850 =mn

Use Your Original Identity Document
for SIM Card Registration
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During the year, OFCA launched two new sets of APIs
to promote the implementation of voice alerts for newly
activated PPS cards, and use of original identity document
for SIM card registration.



Consumer Education Programmes

Continued Publicity Efforts against
Telephone Scams

OFCA continued its multi-faceted publicity
efforts during the year through the launch of
the annual Consumer Education Campaign
(Campaign). Under the theme “Say NO to
Phone Scams”, the Campaign aimed to enhance
public vigilance against telephone and SMS
scams. As the highlight of the Campaign, a
Fun Day cum Exhibition (Fun Day) was held
on 23 and 24 November 2024 at Kowloon
Park, featuring interactive game booths,
quiz contests, family workshops, informative
exhibits, and educational videos. The award
presentation ceremony for the “Beware of
Phone and SMS Scam Poster and Slogan Design
Competition” was also held at the Fun Day to
present awards to the winners. The competition,
aiming at raising primary students’ awareness

ARETREHEAERNEEMNER - BAB/MN20245F
11823 R24BENERAERMUTHEEARRIFI1E
FHENAEBFALEAEREY -

To raise public vigilance against and awareness of
telecommunications scams, CA organised the large-scale
“Say NO to Phone Scams” Fun Day cum Exhibition at
Kowloon Park on 23 and 24 November 2024.

2024/25 Trading Fund Report
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of anti-phone scam messages, received over
2 900 entries from a total of 113 primary schools.
Other activities under the Campaign included
mini exhibitions, community and school talks, as
well as roving drama performances for schools
to remind the public to stay vigilant against
telephone and SMS scams.

To tie in with the theme of the Campaign, OFCA
produced two new one-minute animated short
videos, namely “Say No to Phone Scams” and “Say
No to SMS Scams”, to promote OFCA’s anti-phone
scam measures and encourage the public to use
call-filtering apps. In addition, two new sets of
television and radio announcements in the public
interest (APIs) under the themes “Use Your Original
Identity Document for SIM Card Registration” and
“Pay Attention to Alerts. Be Cautious with Suspicious
Calls.” were produced in July 2024 and January 2025
respectively. The first set of APIs reminds the public
to complete SIM card registration with their own
original identity documents, while the second one
aims to promote to the public the implementation of
voice alerts for newly activated PPS cards.
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The award presentation ceremony for the “Beware
of Phone and SMS Scam Poster and Slogan Design
Competition” was held at the Fun Day to present awards
to the winners.
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OFCA held the Launch Ceremony of the District Anti-Phone Deception
Ambassador Scheme on 16 January 2025. Mr Chaucer Leung, Director-
General of Communications, officiated at the launch ceremony with DC

Chairmen and representatives.

43 FHE | (BETERFMIBAREREEE



2024/25 Trading Fund Report
SEESHRESE

District Anti-Phone Deception
Ambassador Scheme

To further strengthen publicity efforts on the
promotion of anti-phone scam messages, OFCA
launched the District Anti-Phone Deception
Ambassador Scheme (Ambassador Scheme)
in mid-January 2025 by inviting District
Council (DC) Members and staff members
of their ward offices from all 18 districts in
Hong Kong to participate and help promote
the messages to the public at the community
level. Over 150 DC Members’ ward offices
supported the initiative, with more than 300
DC Members and their staff members joining
the Ambassador Scheme as District Anti-Phone

Deception Ambassadors (Ambassadors). The
launch ceremony of the Ambassador Scheme
was held on 16 January 2025, followed by an
anti-deception information seminar to introduce
to the Ambassadors the measures implemented
by OFCA to combat telephone scams and
to provide them with information related to
anti-phone scam messages. OFCA also provided
the participating DC Members’ ward offices
with anti-phone scam promotional leaflets and
souvenirs for distribution to the public through
their community activities and daily contacts with
residents in their districts. OFCA will continue to
collaborate with the Ambassadors through the
conduct of roadshows and other promotional
activities in 2025/26 to sustain and strengthen
its anti-phone scam publicity efforts.

WBAPREEEI00ZREEET/\ENEZENEZERFERAEAMERBEKRE - HEITHEEEHENERAR

Over 300 DC members and staff members of their ward offices from all 18 districts in Hong Kong were appointed as
District Anti-Phone Deception Ambassadors to assist in the promotion of anti-phone scam messages at the community

level.
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OFCA and the Infocomm Media Development Authority of

Singapore held a bilateral meeting from 11 to 12 June 2024
in Singapore.

n ~\
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The 2024 Radio Frequency Co-ordination Meeting between
the Mainland and Hong Kong was held in Hong Kong from 11
to 12 December 2024.
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OFCA and the Guangdong Communications Administration
held a bilateral meeting in Guangzhou on 9 September 2024.

B B RPIERE B R 2025F 18 10 A RFIEITEESE -

OFCA and the Macao Post and Telecommunications Bureau
held a bilateral meeting in Macao on 10 January 2025.
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OFCA places a strong emphasis on community
engagement and maintains close ties with
international organisations on industry
development and regulatory matters.

Participation in International
and Regional Conferences

OFCA actively participates in the activities of,
and maintains close contact with, a number of
international and regional organisations, either as
part of the Chinese delegation or as an individual
member of those organisations.

In 2024/25, OFCA attended a total of 12 conferences
and meetings hosted by international and
regional organisations, including ITU, Asia-Pacific
Telecommunity, and the International Institute of
Communications. The more notable events of the
year included the ITU World Telecommunication
Standardization Assembly and Global Standards
Symposium 2024, and the two Global System
for Mobile Communications Association Mobile
World Congresses held in Barcelona and
Shanghai, respectively.

Looking ahead, OFCA will assist CA in hosting
the 6G Global Summit in Hong Kong in May

C \
Discussion Panel

Luciana Camargos

Head of Spectrum

GSMA

Minna Kivimaki

Permanent Secretary «
Ministry of Transport and Communications 7
Finland i =

B EBRERME S ENR2025F383BESAHEREA
FEERFRITH MWCIHABEIBAKRE -

Mr Chaucer Leung, Director-General of Communications,
attended the Mobile World Congress in Barcelona, Spain,
from 3 to 5 March 2025.

2025, marking the first Summit to be held in
the Asia-Pacific region. The Summit will feature
discussions on the key priorities shaping 6G
developments, including standardisation,
technological innovations, sustainability and
potential applications, as well as the strategic role
of the Asia-Pacific region and the opportunities
presented by a more connected and intelligent
global network. The hosting of 6G Global Summit
will demonstrate Hong Kong’s vision to lead
and promote next generation communications
technology and applications.

OFCA will continue to participate in the activities
held by international and regional organisations with
the aim of exchanging views on international best
practices in regulating the evolving communications
sector and promoting Hong Kong’s position as
the pre-eminent hub for telecommunications and
information infrastructures in the Asia-Pacific region.

Exchanges with the Mainland
and Overseas Authorities

OFCA regularly shares regulatory experience and
exchanges views on various issues in relation
to communications services with regulatory
bodies in other economies. During the year,
OFCA attended meetings with the Mainland
authorities, including the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology and the National Radio
and Television Administration, as well as attended
Closer Economic Partnership Arrangement
meetings to discuss relevant liberalisation
measures with the Mainland counterparts. To
strengthen cooperation in the development of
the information industry between Guangdong
and Hong Kong, OFCA also attends the Plenary
Meetings of the Hong Kong/Guangdong Expert
Group on Cooperation in Informatisation
regularly. OFCA also had bilateral meetings with
the Infocomm Media Development Authority
of Singapore, the Guangdong Communications
Administration of the Mainland and the Post and
Telecommunications Bureau of Macao.

Chapter 5 | Working with the Community and International Organisations
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OFCA giving talks on television programme services for
primary and secondary school students.
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OFCA participated in the “Mountaineering Safety
Promotion Day” to help promote hiking safety messages.



Media and Community Relations

OFCA proactively keeps the public and the
media informed of its work. In 2024/25, OFCA
issued 28 press releases on CA’s major decisions
regarding broadcasting and telecommunications
regulatory issues, as well as updates on OFCA’s
major initiatives, operations and events. OFCA
has also maintained its presence on social media
and provided updates on these platforms from
time to time. These measures help disseminate
messages from OFCA and the Government to
both the industry and the public, enabling them
to gain a better understanding of its work.

Public Education on
Broadcasting Services

In 2024/25, OFCA gave 31 talks on broadcasting
services in Hong Kong to local students of
primary and secondary schools and four talks
to participants of the Community Involvement
Broadcasting Service. Students were introduced to
the different categories of television programme
services in Hong Kong and how audiences could
make informed viewing choices. The participants
of Community Involvement Broadcasting Service
were briefed on the programme standards for
sound broadcasting services.

Participation in Communications
Activities

OFCA continued to participate in the annual
“Science in the Public Service” Lecture Series

2024/25 Trading Fund Report
SEESHRESE

jointly organised by the Hong Kong Observatory
and over 50 government bureaux, departments,
and public bodies by giving a talk entitled
“Measures to Combat Phone and SMS Scams”
on 7 December 2024 at the Hong Kong Science
Museum to present the details of various
measures implemented by OFCA for combating
phone and SMS scams, and the public education
activities held to promote anti-phone and SMS
scam messages.

AN B LU TIT 8 SR K G SN FF SR AU HE T 2378 - 102024
FR2ABPNREAR I FHPERET —HHE -

A staff member of OFCA gave a talk on “Measures to
Combat Phone and SMS Scams” at an activity under the
“Science in the Public Service” in December 2024.

OFCA also participated in the “Mountaineering
Safety Promotion Day” jointly organised by
the Civil Aid Service and other government
departments and organisations on 20 October
2024. An exhibition booth was set up at
the event to promote the effective use of
communications means in country parks.

Chapter 5 | Working with the Community and International Organisations
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OFCA hosted a lunch reception on 27 September 2024
to thank the advisory committee members for their
contributions and support during their 2-year service term.
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5G Campus Application
Competition

In view of the overwhelming responses received
from the first “5G Campus Application Competition”,
OFCA organised the second Competition in 2024
under the theme “5G x Al - Smart Living and
Learning Anytime Anywhere” in collaboration
with the Hong Kong Productivity Council. The
Competition aimed at enhancing students’
understanding of the enormous potential of 5G
technology and its extensive innovative applications,
as well as how to integrate 5G with Artificial
Intelligence (Al) technologies for the creation of
smart living experiences. The Competition received
a total of 43 submissions from 37 secondary
schools. The final-round adjudication cum award
presentation ceremony was held on 30 November
2024.

BIHIATSG x Al—BERSREM BRI FRBE BERE
BT E_EISGREBARIMELE

OFCA organised the second “5G Campus Application
Competition” under the theme “5G x Al - Smart Living
and Learning Anytime Anywhere”.

The Work of Advisory Committees
Telecommunications Advisory Committees

To solicit advice on the formulation and implementation
of various telecommunications regulatory
measures and policies, three advisory committees,
namely the Telecommunications Regulatory
Affairs Advisory Committee, the Radio Spectrum
and Technical Standards Advisory Committee and
the Telecommunications Users and Consumers
Advisory Committee, were formed under OFCA
in June 2012. These committees hold regular
meetings and provide a forum for the exchange
of ideas for the industry, telecommunications service

users, and interested parties on issues of concern.

Members of the advisory committees, appointed on
two-year terms, are drawn from different sectors
of the telecommunications industry, relevant
government departments and non-governmental
organisations, as well as the general public.
This helps provide a balanced representation of
views on issues that are at times highly technical

and complex.

The membership lists of the three advisory
committees as of 31 March 2025 can be found in
Appendix B.

Television and Radio Consultative Scheme

The purpose of the Television and Radio
Consultative Scheme is to solicit qualitative input
on television and radio programming for CA’s
public consultation process, including the licence
renewal for free TV and sound broadcasting
licences. Members are drawn from all 18 districts
of the territory.

Chapter 5 | Working with the Community and International Organisations
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OFCA held the Annual Dinner cum Year-end Prize Presentation Ceremony on 13 December 2024.
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To provide professional support to CA in the
regulation of the fast-changing and dynamic
communications industry, OFCA adopts a
proactive, forward-looking and holistic approach
to human resource management and strategic
manpower planning. Organisational reviews are
conducted from time to time to ensure the most
effective and efficient deployment of manpower
resources.

OFCA had an energetic and versatile workforce
of 480 staff members as of 31 March 2025,
comprising 357 civil servants, 119 staff members
employed on non-civil service contract terms,
and four staff members employed on post-
retirement service contract terms.

OFCA attaches great importance to the training
and development of staff members and strives
to enhance their professional knowledge and
competencies so that they can cope with the
challenges posed by the rapidly evolving industry
environment, such as emerging new technologies,
increasing public demands, and internal drivers
arising from various initiatives.

A Training and Development Committee has
been established to oversee the implementation
of OFCA'’s training and development policies for
departmental officers in order to adopt a holistic
approach to staff training and to strengthen
arrangements for grooming officers with
potential.

A variety of professional and managerial
development courses and in-house training
programmes were organised in 2024/25. These
included courses on law enforcement, technical
training, prosecution and investigation skills,
information and communications technology,
leadership development, performance management,
human resources management, language and
writing skills, financial management, media and
communications, complaint handling, customer
service, integrity management, conduct and

discipline, occupational safety and health, emotional
and physical wellness, records management,
national studies and national security, etc. OFCA
continued to sponsor staff members to attend
courses organised by international organisations
and overseas institutions, such as those provided
by King's College London, Cenerva Ltd and
Asia-Pacific Telecommunity, to enhance their
technical and professional skills. The trainee count
for the year was 1 900 and the training man-
day count was 889. OFCA has been accredited
as a “Manpower Developer” by the Employee
Retraining Board for its outstanding achievements
in manpower training and development since 2016.

In 2024/25, one OFCA staff member received
the Director-General’s Commendation for Long
and Valuable Service, 64 received the Director-
General’s Commendation for Meritorious Service,
four received the Long and Meritorious Service
Award, and two received the 2024/25 Long and
Meritorious Service Travel Award.

WM BB TRRE B 572024 RBAS
5% URBUFAEREARKFREHAMERER
BB RV R R HEB R -

Two staff members of OFCA honoured with The
Ombudsman’s Award 2024 for Officers of Public
Organisations for their professional and outstanding
performance in handling public complaints and
providing assistance to the public in relation to TV
reception.

Chapter 6 | Committed to Human Resource Excellence
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OFCA Volunteer Team brought along with them some gift packs
and set off for a home visit to the elderly on 3 August 2024.
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OFCA Volunteer Team, in collaboration with Lam Tin Care
Team, organised the “National Day Celebration - Caring
Community Health Day” on 1 October 2024 to disseminate
health information.



OFCA regularly organises a variety of staff
activities to advocate for work-life balance and
cultivate a sense of belonging among colleagues.

To encourage staff members to develop a healthy
lifestyle and foster the spirit of teamwork, OFCA
regularly organises staff recreational activities
including interest classes, health talks, outings

and sports activities. To show care for our
community, the OFCA Volunteer Team is active
in volunteering and charity events, including
caring for persons with disabilities and those
undergoing rehabilitation, as well as the elderly
through different visits. The OFCA Volunteer
Team also served the community by collaborating
with District Care Team in various activities,
providing assistance in public activities and
charity events, and more. Since 2007, OFCA has
been awarded the “Caring Organisation” logo by
the Hong Kong Council of Social Service.

A TR 202528 15 AEAE R A T REEDRD -

OFCA Volunteer Team visited Rehabilitation Services Centre
for physically handicapped persons on 15 February 2025.

5%%%’32025&3)% 15HEME T/ES NV EANMELIE—
¥

OFCA held an employee outing to Hong Kong Sha Tau Kok
Anti-Japanese War Memorial Hall on 15 March 2025.

Chapter 6 | Committed to Human Resource Excellence



AR

Financial Results

2 4

2024/ 25 F E R FEARM Financial Results 2024/25

1. HBAMEEEEME » 2024 25FER 1. 2024/25 was a challenging year for the OFCA Trading
RmkEN—5F - FREER2023,72445F Fund. The loss for the year rose to HK$27.9 million from
E891,5008 BT EFAE2,7908 BT - BEE HK$15.0 million in 2023/24. For the rate of return on
BEEFEFERRRAEEMN-48.8% Bk average net fixed assets (ANFA), it dropped to -59.3%* from
FE-59.3%% » TEIZEEL HILINFTE - -48.8% last year, which was primarily the result of an increase

in operating expenditure.

2. EFENARLI6TERTT  BMEFA.794E 2. The total revenue at HK$496.7 million was higher than the
BrAam TERRZREEEBRENKRAR amount of HK$479.4 million last year mainly due to increase
RETEWAE D o in revenue from licence fees as well as sundry income.

3. EXHAE 2024 25FEMELH EF6.1% 3. On the expenditure side, the total expenditure rose by 6.1%
E52468%8 > FEFRCETER -~ && to HK$524.6 million in 2024/25 mainly due to increase in
B MITE R IE 0 - Mo HEHAIER staff costs, operating expenses as well as administrative
EER BN A 75 AR D Tk o expenses, partly offset by decrease in consultancy fees and

accommodation costs.

*BEEEEERERHRERSZUEZEKE (REE BN * The rate of return on ANFA is calculated as total comprehensive income (excluding,
) MEWANFEZY) BRUEEEEFSFERAEF if any, interest income and interest expenses) divided by average net fixed assets,
EBHNESX BETEEROIEYE BEREMNETRE and expressed as a percentage. Fixed assets include property, plant and equipment

o and intangible assets only.

@ BEE | BEKR
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2024,/ 25F EBFEARR  Financial Results 2024/25

HBEE : Highlights of the financial performance:
2024/25 2023/24
BE8T BEAT
HK$’'m HK$'m
A Revenue 496.7 479.4
T Expenditure 524.6 494.4
518 Loss (27.9) (15.0)
EEEEFRHERERE Rate of return on ANFA -59.3% -48.8%
KA Revenue

MR % Licence fees
83.4% (83.9%)

fR% % Service charges
5.5% (5.6%)

FEU A Interest income
10.3% (10.3%)

T8 Miscellaneous
0.8% (0.2%)

3% 1 Expenditure

%48 Operation
16.1% (13.3%)

8T Staff
79.5% (81.5%)

& N 835 Depreciation & amortisation
4.1% (4.5%)

EAM Consultancy
0.3% (0.7%)

T iESENB2023, 24 EHT
In parentheses are 2023/24 figures

Chapter 7 | Financial Results ‘ 58



AR

Financial Results

s’

HTEERRS

ERERNTH - BUE
&t

sTEMERE

i
—t

)

ik B
g

—
AL

L]
ﬂ-l—

L

BR

ARBRE B BB E63 s BN
BEERNASSEESIMBRE - RIS
HREIEN 202543031 AWM R RRREE
FELEENREKSE « RSB RRARSH
8% WRHBRRNNE - QEEARHHE
K -

RS RSVBRRERREE SIS E S
B (EEMBREGSER) EEMPEHKIR
BEHEERPAEEERSN2025943831H
BRI R B E % B L F RSB ERR MR ERE -
WEER (SEEDEA) (55430F) H7(4ME
FIRERN SN Z55ME -

ERBIERE

HRERR (EFEEM) B7OIEREFEN
EFHERETEST - RIRIBEXFERMAREN
B FENARE [FA BB IRREF T
FRERIEIE) BB o IRIBEAFEER) » BN
BAEHEERMAEEEES - LEHHRFE
AIETHMEREE - T8(E - ZAAERNES
BRERTTENEEMSRNET T RIBHER -

Report of the Director of Audit

Audit Commission
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Legislative Council

Opinion

| certify that | have examined and audited the financial statements
of the Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund set
out on pages 63 to 98, which comprise the statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2025, and the statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In my opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Office of the Communications Authority
Trading Fund as at 31 March 2025, and of its results of operations
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the manner provided in section 7(4) of
the Trading Funds Ordinance (Cap. 430).

Basis for opinion

| conducted my audit in accordance with section 7(5) of the Trading
Funds Ordinance and the Audit Commission auditing standards. My
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of my report. | am independent of the Office of the
Communications Authority Trading Fund in accordance with those
standards, and | have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with those standards. | believe that the audit evidence
| have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
my opinion.
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Report of the Director of Audit

Responsibilities of the General Manager, Office
of the Communications Authority Trading Fund
for the financial statements

The General Manager, Office of the Communications Authority
Trading Fund is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and section 7(4) of
the Trading Funds Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
General Manager, Office of the Communications Authority Trading
Fund determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the General Manager, Office
of the Communications Authority Trading Fund is responsible for
assessing the Office of the Communications Authority Trading
Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going

concern basis of accounting.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with the Audit Commission auditing
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

Chapter 7 | Financial Results
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Report of the Director of Audit

As part of an audit in accordance with the Audit Commission
auditing standards, | exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. | also:

— identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

— obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund’s
internal control;

— evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the General Manager, Office
of the Communications Authority Trading Fund;
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Report of the Director of Audit

— conclude on the appropriateness of the General Manager,
Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund's
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Office of the
Communications Authority Trading Fund’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If | conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, | am required to draw attention in my
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Office of the Communications Authority Trading
Fund to cease to continue as a going concern; and

— evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

| communicate with the General Manager, Office of the
Communications Authority Trading Fund regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that | identify during my audit.

T A

Terry Mok
Assistant Director of Audit
for Director of Audit

Audit Commission

6th Floor, High Block
Queensway Government Offices
66 Queensway

Hong Kong

8 September 2025

Chapter 7 | Financial Results ‘ 62



AR

Financial Results

/
IR Financial Statements
2HKRER Statement of Comprehensive Income
ianrmiam (Bxpressed i thousands of Hont Kong dollrs)
KEAEREHZBA Revenue from contracts with customers 4 429,223
EBIERAE Operating costs 5 (494,405)
EEESE Loss from operations (65,182)
HgA Other income 6 50,189
FEBE Loss for the year (14,993)
Hh 2w Other comprehensive income —
FERTEEBE Total comprehensive loss for the year (14,993)
BEEEERHRE Rate of return on fixed assets 7 -48.8%

F67EISEMMIFEAARMIEIREKM—EBS o The notes on pages 67 to 98 form part of these financial statements.
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Financial Statements

TR RR Statement of Financial Position
1R2025%3831H as at 31 March 2025
(U BT 5)T) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
i
Note 2024
JERENEE Non-current assets
Y% ~ RE RN Property, plant and equipment 8 126,883
EREEE Right-of-use assets 9(a) 9,859
E|LEE Intangible assets 10 4,590
NEEESER Placement with the Exchange Fund 11 510,847
652179
MENEE Current assets
FEWIE RN R ELfth FE W kIS Trade and other receivables 12, 13(a) 811
FEUSRRE AN L IRER Amounts due from related parties 20 —
RN EEE S FRF R Interest receivable from placement 4,699
with the Exchange Fund
EHEKF S Other interest receivable 14,077
RITER Bank deposits 702,300
RERIFITHEER Cash and bank balances 5,072
_ 726959
Bk =L Current liabilities
FETRFUR: E A FETFIE Trade and other payables 20,447
R ETEH B Provision for employee benefits 14 8,977
FE(SRASE A LIRER Amounts due to related parties 20 33,608
IRIEWA Deferred revenue 13(b) 266,044
HEaR’ Lease liabilities 9(b) 4,800
333,876
MENEERE Net current assets 393,083
BEERERBAG Total assets less current liabilities 1,045,262
JERENAE Non-current liabilities
IEZEUA Deferred revenue 13(b) 97
HEaR® Lease liabilities 9(b) 5,374
EETRFEHHE Provision for employee benefits 14 66,217
71,688
REE NET ASSETS 973,574
BEAREGEE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
EEESEAR Trading fund capital 15 212,400
BREGEE Development reserve 16 690,165
fREEEF Retained earnings 17 71,009
973,574
PIRE Chaucer Leung
ENEESERASE General Manager,
BRSBTS Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund

BO7EISHIME DA BHIRRN—ED -

The notes on pages 67 to 98 form part of these financial statements.
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Financial Results

L 4
BFEERER Financial Statements
EREHR Statement of Changes in Equity
HF2025F3831HIEEE for the year ended 31 March 2025
(U BT Ti5)T) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

Balance at beginning of year 988,567

FREER

FERTEEBE Total comprehensive loss for the year (14,993)

Balance at end of year

FHEER

973,574

F67EISEMMEEAAMIFHRERM—EED o The notes on pages 67 to 98 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows

HE2025%3831HILLFE for the year ended 31 March 2025
(LB BEFTlL5T) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
i3
Note 2024
SEEAZHRENE Cash flows from operating activities
EfEE Loss from operations (65,182)
FHEIEE : Adjustments for:
HIERA Sundry income 574
HE SHIEYIE  REBREMN Gain on disposals of property, plant and (24)
e equipment
I  RERSBINE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 15,754
FREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 4714
R AR Amortisation of intangible assets 1,696
HEARNFEXH Interest expenses on lease liabilities 390
ﬁ%ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂﬁl&%&lﬁ (181 / (Increase) / Decrease in trade and other receivables 1,391
e
FERIEA TIRZR (B81N) /R (Increase) / Decrease in amounts due from 6,076
related parties
FEIR AR EL At FE (I N Increase in trade and other payables 1,064
FESRE A LIRFUR D Decrease in amounts due to related parties (1,107)
B AE Increase in deferred revenue 126,927
{EETEFBHERL Decrease in provision for employee benefits (6,067)
BRBBRERRMS JHHIE Amount paid on settlement of restitution claims (662)
SEER (FRA) /FSHERE Net cash (used in) / from operating activities 85,544
REEBAZRERE Cash flows from investing activities
NEESED (M), FD (Increase) / Decrease in placement with the 91,226
Exchange Fund
FEEHRA= AR U LMRITER Decrease / (Increase) in bank deposits with original (201,600)
D,/ (Y1) maturities over three months
HENE RERSMNEREE Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and (13,396)
intangible assets
HE SHEME « RERBIFAE Net proceeds from disposals of property, plant 25
35 and equipment
B8 Interest received 45507
REBEMRE /(AR REFE Net cash from / (used in) investing activities (78,238)
REEAZRERE Cash flows from financing activities
YAHEEE Payments of lease liabilities 9(b) (5,080)
REEEMAREEE Net cash used in financing activities (5,080)
RERFRREMIENFE Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,226
FNNRERERRE Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 6,546
FRORERFARE Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 18 8,772

F67EISEMMEEAARMIFHRERM—EBD o The notes on pages 67 to 98 form part of these financial statements.
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

1. 256 1. General

BISERTEL1995F 58 10 KIE (&&E
EEKH) (5F430F) E3 - 4R6MGE
BREE - M1995F 6B 1AM ENER
B (BB) €EEE - BAREER
ERBE2012F48 1 BRABERN 8
MEHFEERKEMN) (FBeleE) H25
BHRE MEBEFHHER ERE
HBEERMAE (BMM) EFES)
(EEES) - BAEHEER (@R
B) 2iRE CERMEZHEERKA) &
TEGEERE - @R R EAE 8
1780FT - BB ARRERMAIT (ERE
B) (3562%) ~ (EHE (HEEN)
B (38391%) - (BMEHEER
By ~ (BFREB) (F106F) -
(FFEBEFREMEH) (5B593%) -
Uk (FEmRA%EANY (F362F) M
GRFIEHED)  (F619%) - WARIRSURFE
EfEHEBIBTTE G - EEESRENSE
AISANTHERAT (AT BEBRIEHER
RS - ZHEEEERET - 6

(a) EBEMARFSERERRARTSAVREREANRE

(b) FEFEBERBIRENERE
(0 WMEBEM - BEERREEAREERK
FiRitEase « BREIFIIRART |

(d) EEERIMREMZERRER LEER
R

(€) BT CEEABFHAREN) + MUKk

() FEEREAREEREZRNATERF
EMEIT RS o

63 BEE | BEKR

The Office of the Telecommunications Authority (OFTA)
Trading Fund was established on 1 June 1995 under the
Legislative Council Resolution passed on 10 May 1995
pursuant to sections 3, 4 and 6 of the Trading Funds
Ordinance (Cap. 430). By virtue of section 25 of the
Communications Authority Ordinance (CAO) (Cap. 616) which
came into operation on 1 April 2012, the OFTA Trading Fund
was renamed as the Office of the Communications Authority
(OFCA) Trading Fund (the Fund) on the same date. The
OFCA serves as the executive arm of the Communications
Authority (CA), which is a statutory body set up under the
CAO to administer and enforce the Broadcasting Ordinance
(Cap. 562), the Broadcasting (Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance (Cap. 391), the CAO, the Telecommunications
Ordinance (Cap. 106) and the Unsolicited Electronic
Messages Ordinance (UEMO) (Cap. 593), as well as the Trade
Descriptions Ordinance (Cap. 362) and the Competition
Ordinance (Cap. 619), and to perform any function under
or by virtue of any Ordinance. The Fund, which is under
the policy portfolio of the Commerce and Economic
Development Bureau of the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (the Government), supports the
principal activities of the CA, as follows:

(@) licensing and regulating telecommunications services
and broadcasting services;

(b)  managing Hong Kong’s radio frequency spectrum;

(c) providing advisory, planning and support services on
telecommunications, broadcasting, anti-spamming
matters to the Government;

(d) overseeing technical standards and representing the
Government on international affairs;

(e) enforcing the UEMO; and

(f)  ensuring the enforcement of fair trading practices and
fair competition in relation to telecommunications and
broadcasting sectors.
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Material accounting policies

(@)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards, which
is a collective term that includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRSs),
Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations
as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA), and accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong. Material accounting
policies adopted by the Fund are set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new or amended
HKFRS Accounting Standards that are first effective or
available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Fund. Note 3 provides information on
the changes, if any, in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to
the extent that they are relevant to the Fund for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is historical cost.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires management
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis for making judgments about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

Chapter 7 | Financial Results
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

There are no critical accounting judgments involved in
the application of the Fund’s accounting policies. There
are also no key assumptions concerning the future,
or other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities in the next year.

Property, plant and equipment

The property, plant and equipment appropriated to
the Fund on 1 June 1995 were measured initially
at deemed cost equal to the value contained in the
Legislative Council Resolution for the setting up of the
Fund. Property, plant and equipment acquired since
1 June 1995 are capitalised at the actual costs incurred.

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses (note 2(f)):

- leasehold land and buildings held for own use; and

- plant and equipment, including telecommunications
and broadcasting equipment, computer systems,
furniture, fixtures and motor vehicles.
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

()

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold land

over the unexpired term

of lease

- Buildings situated over the shorter of the

on leasehold land unexpired term of lease and

their useful lives

- Equipment 5to 12 years
- Computer systems 5 years
- Furniture and fixtures 5 years
- Motor vehicles 5years

Gains or losses arising from the disposal of property,
plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income on the date of disposal.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values

are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted
if appropriate.

Chapter 7 | Financial Results
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

(d)

Leases

A lease is recognised in the statement of financial
position as a right-of-use asset with a corresponding
lease liability at the lease commencement date, except
that payments associated with short-term leases
having a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

A right-of-use asset is measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses (note 2(f)).
The right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease term and the asset’s
estimated useful life.

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the
lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Fund’s incremental
borrowing rate. The lease liability is subsequently
adjusted by the effect of the interest on and the
settlement of the lease liability, and the remeasurement
arising from any reassessment of lease liability or lease
modification.
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

(e)

(f)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets include acquired computer software
licences and capitalised development costs of computer
software programs. Expenditure on development of
computer software programs is capitalised only if the
expenditure can be measured reliably, the programs
are technically feasible, future economic benefits are
probable and the Fund intends to and has sufficient
resources to complete development and to use the
resulting asset. Otherwise, it is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income as incurred.
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses (note 2(f)).

Amortisation of intangible assets is charged to the
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-
line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives of 5 to
12 years.

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted
if appropriate.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets, including
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets, are reviewed at the reporting date to
identify any indication of impairment.

If any such indication exists, an impairment loss is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset
is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use.

Chapter 7 | Financial Results
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

(g)

Financial assets and financial liabilities

(i)

(ii)

Initial recognition and measurement

The Fund’s financial assets comprise placement
with the Exchange Fund, trade and other
receivables, amounts due from related parties,
interest receivables, bank deposits, and cash and
bank balances.

The Fund’s financial liabilities comprise trade and
other payables, amounts due to related parties
and lease liabilities.

The Fund recognises financial assets and financial
liabilities on the date it becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. At
initial recognition, financial assets and financial
liabilities are measured at fair value plus or minus
transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets or the issue
of the financial liabilities.

Classification and subsequent measurement

The Fund classifies all financial assets as subsequently
measured at amortised cost using effective
interest method, on the basis that they are held
within a business model whose objective is to
hold them for collection of contractual cash
flows and the contractual cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest. The
measurement of loss allowances for financial
assets is based on the expected credit loss model
as described in note 2(g)(iv).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

(g) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(ii)

Classification and subsequent measurement
(continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or a financial liability and of allocating
and recognising the interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts or payments
through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset or to the amortised cost of the
financial liability. When calculating the effective
interest rate, the Fund estimates cash flows by
considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument but does not consider the expected
credit losses. The calculation includes all fees
received or paid between parties to the contract
that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and all other premiums
or discounts.

The Fund classifies all financial liabilities as
subsequently measured at amortised cost using
effective interest method, except for lease
liabilities as stated in note 2(d).

The Fund reclassifies a financial asset when
and only when it changes its business model
for managing the asset. A financial liability is
not reclassified.
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)

(g

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the
contractual rights to receive the cash flows from
the financial asset expire, or where the financial
asset together with substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred.

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged
or cancelled, or expires.

Impairment of financial instruments

The Fund applies a three-stage approach to
measure expected credit losses on financial
instruments (other than trade receivables)
measured at amortised cost and to recognise the
corresponding loss allowances and impairment
losses or reversals, with the change in credit
risk since initial recognition determining the
measurement bases for expected credit losses:

Stage 1: 12-month expected credit losses

For financial instruments for which there has not
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the portion of the lifetime expected
credit losses that represent the expected credit
losses that result from default events that are
possible within the 12 months after the reporting
date are recognised.
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)

(g

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial instruments (continued)

Stage 2: Lifetime expected credit losses - not
credit impaired

For financial instruments for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition but that are not credit impaired,
lifetime expected credit losses representing the
expected credit losses that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the
financial instruments are recognised.

Stage 3: Lifetime expected credit losses - credit
impaired

For financial instruments that have become
credit impaired, lifetime expected credit
losses are recognised and interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost rather than the gross
carrying amount.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always

measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit losses.

Chapter 7 | Financial Results
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)

(g

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial instruments (continued)

Determining significant increases in credit risk

At each reporting date, the Fund assesses whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
for financial instruments since initial recognition by
comparing the risk of default occurring over the
remaining expected life as at the reporting date
with that as at the date of initial recognition. The
assessment considers quantitative and qualitative
historical information as well as forward-looking
information. A financial asset is assessed to be
credit impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

The Fund assesses whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition on an individual or collective basis.
For collective assessment, financial instruments
are grouped on the basis of shared credit risk
characteristics, taking into account investment
type, credit risk ratings and other relevant factors.

Placements with banks with an external credit
rating of investment grade are considered to
have a low credit risk. Other financial instruments
are considered to have a low credit risk if they
have a low risk of default and the counterparty
or borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.
The credit risk on these financial instruments is
assessed as not having increased significantly
since initial recognition.
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)

(g

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial instruments (continued)

When a financial asset is uncollectible, it is written
off against the related loss allowance. Such assets
are written off after all the necessary procedures
have been completed and the amount of the loss
has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income.

Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credit losses of a financial instrument
are an unbiased and probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash
shortfalls) over the expected life of the financial
instrument. A cash shortfall is the difference
between the cash flows due to the Fund in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Fund expects to receive. For a financial
asset that is credit impaired at the reporting date,
the Fund measures the expected credit losses as
the difference between the asset’s gross carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the asset’s original
effective interest rate.

Deferred revenue

If a customer pays consideration, or the Fund has an

unconditional right to consideration, before the Fund

transfers a service to the customer, the Fund recognises

its contract liability as deferred revenue. The Fund

derecognises the deferred revenue and recognises

revenue when the Fund transfers the service and,

therefore, satisfies its performance obligation.

Chapter 7 | Financial Results
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

(i)

Revenue recognition

The Fund recognises revenue from contracts with
customers when it satisfies a performance obligation
by transferring a promised service to a customer, at the
amount of consideration to which the Fund expects to
be entitled in exchange for the service.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method.

Other income is recognised on an accrual basis.

Employee benefits

The employees of the Fund comprise civil servants and
contract staff. Salaries, staff gratuities and annual leave
entitlements are accrued and recognised as expenditure
in the year in which the associated services are rendered
by the staff. For civil servants, staff on-costs, including
pensions and housing benefits provided to the staff by
the Government, are charged as expenditure in the year
in which the associated services are rendered.

For civil servants employed on pensionable terms, their
pension liabilities are discharged by reimbursement
of the staff on-cost charged by the Government.
For other staff, contributions to the schemes under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(MPFSO) (Cap. 485) are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income as incurred.
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2. Material accounting policies (continued)

(k)

Related parties

The Fund is a separate accounting entity within the
Government established under the Trading Funds
Ordinance. During the year, the Fund has entered into
transactions with various related parties, including
government bureaux and departments, other trading
funds and financially autonomous bodies controlled
or significantly influenced by the Government, in the
ordinary course of its business.

Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars using the spot
exchange rates at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other
than Hong Kong dollars are translated into Hong Kong
dollars using the closing exchange rate at the reporting
date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank
balances, and other short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition.

Chapter 7 | Financial Results
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(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2,

Material accounting policies (continued)

(n)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Fund has a present legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of
the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued certain new or amended HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are first effective for the current

accounting period of the Fund. There have been no changes

to the accounting policies applied in these financial statements

for the years presented as a result of these developments.

The Fund has not applied any new standard or interpretation

that is not yet effective for the current accounting period
(note 22).
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4. REBERSHIZHA 4. Revenue from contracts with customers

B E Telecommunications licence fees

hRER — R Licences - Public 323,852

hEEE—= Licences - Private 39,392

EBRERE Broadcasting licence fees 38,847

mREA TR HEARTS (MIEE 20(a)) Services provided to related 26,842
parties (note 20(a))

HIEA Miscellaneous revenue 290

429,223

EEREETREBNBEMMNANITREME The Fund supports the CA to administer and enforce various
B BIE (EBEG) K (EFEHF) - ordinances including the Broadcasting Ordinance and the
CEESHERPRFENNENER B Telecommunications Ordinance. The Fund’s performance
B R ENRT EERRFNEEMNAES obligations in contracts with customers mainly involve
H o FHEEBETRELHOREE - €88 licensing and regulating telecommunications services and
EREREEHRENRERETTENE broadcasting services. A licensee is required to pay service fee
£ » WA B EPER R ARTSE - in advance. The Fund satisfies its performance obligation as

the service is rendered and recognises the fee over time on a
straight-line basis.

ERAREANTIRENFEAMKERT For advisory and project, and frequency assignment
UK ARSI RERE - EEESRE and protection services provided to related parties, the
RIEEMARBNRERETT BHYEE - I Fund satisfies its performance obligation as the service is
R [El1 2 BB Ak AR B e R SR AR TS & © rendered and recognises a service fee over time on a full cost

recovery basis.
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BFSERER Financial Statements
AR R MIEE Notes to the Financial Statements
(FRIGRIFEERSN » FTE & BRI R F T (LS ) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)
5. E{ERE 5. Operating costs
BTEH Staff costs
FehEMETER Salaries and other staff costs 379,031
(ERENERRESTENER) THYFHEIMHER Contributions to the schemes 24,074
under MPFSO
T R A Accommodation costs 21,438
BIERX Operating expenses 39,757
TR Administrative expenses 3,863
k= Consultancy fees 3,320
Y% -~ RIEER[BMITE Depreciation of property, plant 15,754
and equipment
FREEEITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 4,714
B B Amortisation of intangible assets 1,696
& &R Audit fees 758
494,405
6. HithgA 6. Otherincome

FEWA Interest income from

NEESER Placement with the 19,269
Exchange Fund

FRITER Bank deposits 30,290

RITHEER Bank balances 56

49,615

HETERA Sundry income 574

@ BEE | BEKR
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(BRIGRIFZEESN » T R BRI B F T (L5 ) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)
7. BlEEERIEFHRSE 7. Rate of return on fixed assets
EEEERRREUEZERE (FEE The rate of return on fixed assets is calculated as total
(InEWEE) FIBEKRANFELZH) B comprehensive income (excluding, if any, interest income and
UEEEEFHRERABEMESNE S interest expenses) divided by average net fixed assets, and
RoBETEEROEYE - RERSBIM expressed as a percentage. Fixed assets include property,
MEFEE - R KEERIEE (BEE plant and equipment and intangible assets only. The Fund is
BIEH) FOEETE - TREFEER SR expected to meet a target rate of return on fixed assets of
EINEBFEETEEBERIHREAS5.2% 5.2% per year (2024: 5.2%) as determined by the Financial
(20244 : 5.2%) ° Secretary under section 6 of the Trading Funds Ordinance.

Chapter 7 | Financial Results ‘ 84



AR

Financial Results

P 4 O

M5 ERER Financial Statements
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(BRIFRUEZBESN - BB 2 BRI B I FTL ST ) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

8. 1% - HRER M 8. Property, plant and equipment

ITiREE  RfE BEERE FARRKE HER e
Furniture
Land and Computer and Motor
buildings Equipment systems fixtures vehicles Total

(573 Cost
"2023%F481H At 1 April 2023 220,243 80,246 55,954 54,207 7,477 418,127
R"E Additions - 7,437 7,068 - 328 14,833
HE 58 Disposals - (395) (295) - (172) (862)
MW2024%3831H At 31 March 2024 220,243 87,288 62,727 54,207 7,633 432,098
R2024%F481H At 1 April 2024 220,243 87,288 62,727 54,207 7,633 432,098
hE Additions - 715 9,814 560 766 11,855
HE FHEH Disposals - (38) (1,764) (915) (510) (3,227)
20254 3831H At31 March 2025 220,243 87,965 70,777 53,852 7,889 440,726
REHRE Accumulated depreciation
R2023F481H At 1 April 2023 123,014 66,805 44,841 51,321 4,342 290,323
FERIFE Charge for the year 4,849 4,539 4,160 1,085 1,121 15,754
HE /FHE8mEHE Written back on disposals - (395) (295) . (172) (862)
2024 3831H At 31 March 2024 127,863 70,949 48,706 52,406 5,291 305,215
R2024%F481H At 1 April 2024 127,863 70,949 48,706 52,406 5,291 305,215
FRITE Charge for the year 4,849 4,035 4,553 1,041 1,060 15,538
HE FTiEmE Written back on disposals - (38) (1,764) (915) (510) (3,227)
2025%3831H At31 March 2025 132,712 74,946 51,495 52,532 5,841 317,526
IREFE Net book value
$2025%3831H At 31March 2025 87,531 13,019 19,282 1,320 2,048 123,200
M2024F3831H At 31 March 2024 92,380 16,339 14,021 1,801 2,342 126,883
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9. #HE 9. Leases
(a) EFREEE (a) Right-of-use assets

BE
Buildings

2025 2024

5% 3 Cost

FUIRER At beginning and end of year 30,216
FEHRE Accumulated depreciation

F4) At beginning of year 15,643
FERITE Charge for the year 4,714
F& At end of year 20,357
IRERE Net book value

Fi& At end of year 9,859

(b) THE&EE (b) Lease liabilities

-

Current
Non-current

TRERIESENES  8iFHER The table below shows changes in lease liabilities,
JEIREEH) o including both cash and non-cash changes.

F9) At beginning of year

REMEBRSRENEE) : Changes from financing
cash flows:
LHEEaR Payments of lease liabilities (5,080)
JEIRSEE : Non-cash changes:
HEAENFEXREH Interest expense on lease 390
liabilities
F& At end of year 10,174
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BT ERRMIEE Notes to the Financial Statements
(BR1FEYEEEESN. » BT £ 4RI B I T TS ©) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)
9. #HE (#&) 9. Leases (continued)
(b) HEAE#E) (b) Lease liabilities (continued)
HEaANRSSWEENSNT 5 The remaining contractual maturities of lease liabilities,
R SRR EENRESnE which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows,
B are shown below:

—FRN Within one year 5,040

—FRERERN After one year but within 5,040
two years

MEREBERFERN After two years but within 420
five years

10,500

(© REEWREARRNESHEENTH (c) Expense items in relation to leases recognised in the

IEE statement of comprehensive income

=

HESENFRXH

Interest expense on lease
liabilities

(d) FEPSH e (d) Total cash outflow for leases

Lease liabilities

HEAR
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(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

10.

Intangible assets

ERERtFEERRERARER

Computer software licences

and system development costs
2025 2024

11.

0% 3
=2)
WE
HE, 58
FHR

Rt

F4

FREE
HE FHEH 15
FR

PREFE
FR

NERETFR

NERSEFENIEERASE2,974.88 8T

(20244 : 5181,084.78#7T) » Hrb
SEHBIT (20244F @ 5B#HT) BEXS
2,974.88#7T (20244 : 1,084.7&E7T)
AERSEBAREBHRIERIFE %
ERARAE (BEERER) - BHAXR
BEIRENA S ©

NEESEIF ERESFEIREETNEER
RHE - ZEXAESKREHEGBERE
HFEHEERERR - = FHRBFES
FEL—EEENTEEERE  LURER
BaEA%E » TRA0% ° 2025FFEMEE
BRAGFLIA%  2024BFEAEEIT% °

11.

Cost

At beginning of year 22,121
Additions 629
Disposals (19)
At end of year 22,731
Accumulated amortisation

At beginning of year 16,464
Charge for the year 1,696
Written back on disposals (19)
At end of year 18,141
Net book value

At end of year 4,590

Placement with the Exchange Fund

The balance of the placement with the Exchange Fund
amounted to HK$529,748,000 (2024: HK$510,847,000),
being the principal sum of HK$500,000,000 (2024:
HK$500,000,000) plus interest paid but not yet
withdrawn at the reporting date of HK$29,748,000 (2024:
HK$10,847,000). The term of the placement is six years from
the date of placement, during which the amount of principal
sum cannot be withdrawn.

Interest on the placement is payable at a fixed rate
determined every January. The rate is the average annual
investment return of the Exchange Fund’s Investment
Portfolio for the past six years or the average annual yield of
three-year Government Bond for the previous year subject
to a minimum of zero percent, whichever is the higher.
The interest rate has been fixed at 4.4% per annum for the
calendar year 2025 and at 3.7% per annum for the calendar
year 2024.
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

12. Trade and other receivables

FEIRTR
FATRUIA
E R E M EBGUR

13. RERBSHIEER

(@) FEMIRRIRGHIEE

Trade receivables
Advance payments
Deposits and other receivables

210
448
153

13. Contract balances with customers

(@) Receivables and contract assets

EREEBIRHEIRE T E - ERE
H PRI R RS RRTE IR 122 5%
FEWIRR - EERE S W H/EMEHK
BE-

b) BHEE
EEE S M B REITA TR A

BRERFNEE  EHBRIERA
SFREIERA - BRADHIOT -

For services provided to licensees, the balance of
receivables at the reporting date is presented as trade
receivables in note 12. The Fund does not have any
contract assets.

Contract liabilities

The Fund’s obligations to provide services to licensees
for which the Fund has received advance payments
from the licensees are presented as deferred revenue in
the statement of financial position, as analysed below:

EIEUTA
EERE

RS
BB A
5t

Deferred revenue

Telecommunications 254,171
licence fees

Broadcasting licence fees 11,854

Miscellaneous revenue 116

Total 266,141

=&
nE
JERE

@ BEE | BEKR

Representing:
Current
Non-current

266,044
97

266,141




2024/25 Trading Fund Report
SEESHRESE

RAFSERER
MTEERRIMIEE

(BR1FEYEEEEN. » BT £ 4RI B I FTLSYT - )

13. RERNISHIEER (78

Financial Statements
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(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

13. Contract balances with customers

(b)

aNaR#E)

—RME - FERBATERRR
 » URHBRERREWEIRIREE
BRI EAFERMEERE - A6
BENERRETRNENE - 15
E205FAF - EREHEREERY
HRREFERMERE - BRMEN
BEMR T BT R R ISR - AR RRtEAR
ST E RIS AT - BRD REERRY
FEREESMEWE—RK  EEKRA
EEREIETEREE P BERRET (3
MAKRET) BRNEENRRZE
1% o BNEMEIRI—REIREIRE
SEREDTAIEMFE AR FIRELE
WABBA » EREMELERA - &
BEETRITE—FATHERBWEA -
REEAREERGHNRERAA
R B -

FRRIEWABSRNERRS) 2550
I

(continued)

(b)

Contract liabilities (continued)

In general, licensees are required to pay licence fees
upon issue of the licence, and on each anniversary
thereafter during the validity period of the licences.
Period of validity for each type of licence varies, ranging
from 1 to 20 years. When a licensee does not pay
licence fee on an anniversary date, the licence may
be suspended or revoked and the contract with the
licensee would become unenforceable. For certain
types of licences, licence fees are to be paid biennially.
The balances of deferred revenue represent the
aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated
to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied
(or partially satisfied) at the reporting date. For the
deferred revenue from biennial licence fees, the Fund
expects to recognise as revenue within two years.
For other deferred revenue, the Fund expects to
recognise as revenue within one year. No consideration
from contracts with customers is not included in the
transaction price.

Significant changes in the balances of deferred revenue
during the year are shown below:

R E 45 BB AFSERERBEER
SRR A TR

I IR TR AT LS A0

Decrease due to recognition (139,025)
as revenue during the
year that was included in
the balances of deferred
revenue at beginning of
year

Increase due to advance
payments received during

the year

265,952
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(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

14. Provision for employee benefits
This represents the estimated liability for employees’ annual
leave and obligations on contract-end gratuities payable to
contract staff for services rendered up to the reporting date
(see note 2(j)).

15. Trading fund capital

This represents the Government's investment in the Fund.

16. Development reserve

This is a reserve serving as a regulating mechanism to meet
the target return as well as to reduce the need for future fee

increases.

FHIRFHEAEER

17. (xE=F

Balance at beginning and 690,165

end of year

17. Retained earnings

FHERR
FEREEBER

FIHERR

Rig (EEBESKEH) » MBEBRE
EREERSHEEMFELNEFRKE
% AETHREESRET O
BT —ARURA » 1R2025F78 » BFF R
TEAMREZE2024F38318LEENE
ZEER (RME7) SBEBA—KRKRA
(20244 : EBEFEE E2023FE3H31H1E
FENBZEEREBEBRTF—HRKBA) -
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Balance at beginning of year 86,002

Total comprehensive loss (14,993)
for the year -
Balance at end of year 71,009

Pursuant to the Trading Funds Ordinance, the Financial
Secretary may direct that the surpluses or a part of the
surpluses to be transferred into the general revenue, having
regard to estimated future requirements of the operations
of the Fund. In July 2025, the Government indicated that no
transfer of target return (see note 7) into general revenue was
required in respect of the year ended 31 March 2024 (2024:
no transfer of target return into general revenue in respect of
the year ended 31 March 2023).
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(BR1FEYEEEEN. » BT £ 4RI B I FTLSYT - ) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)
18. IRERZERIRE 18. Cash and cash equivalents

REKMIBITIERR Cash and bank balances 5,072
RITENR Bank deposits 702,300
707,372
- [REHRA =AU EVIRITER Less: Bank deposits with (698,600)
original maturities
over three months
RekFRRE Cash and cash equivalents 8,772

19. BARFIE R Hithgiz 19. Capital commitments and other commitments
R2025F3831H » € EEEHAREER As at 31 March 2025, the Fund had capital commitments,
FRIRRPIEREGIEARRENT : so far as not provided for in the financial statements, as

stated below:

BERENEEN Authorised and contracted for
BIEREE R RN Authorised but not contracted for

14,428
20

EB/ENERT (—EZREE) MR20125 To help resolve billing disputes in deadlock between
118X IEEEEE T HESIEN MR telecommunications service providers and their customers
BEERIRERETEL (G12)) - UEBBAR by means of mediation, a voluntary Customer Complaint
B HERAERBHEGEERE Settlement Scheme (the scheme) was set up in November
ZEPEABRNEIRFE R - RIRN20204F 2012 and administered by the Communications Association
6H30HEETHGREE SR S EEESK of Hong Kong, the industry association. By a Memorandum
B HEFEARABE1508 B TR ERE of Understanding amended on 30 June 2020, the Fund will
UHEAEIREEE - R EEESLM provide recurrent funding for the long term operation of
STEIEBF21.588 T (2024F : 2198 the scheme in the amount not exceeding HK$1,500,000
HBIT) © per annum. During the year, the Fund had contributed

HK$215,000 (2024: HK$219,000) to the scheme.
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(b) ERZEALTRENRESIERQMS
A ~ REMME « EARER - PR
BIEMBANZL - S EESHMEL
BRFSH L H2,641.08HT (20244 :
2,685.98#7T) MUk

© MEEATHEESNYE REKS
Mo OEEH EEETEER
B76.6BHET (20244 : 32.88
HBIT) o
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(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

20. Related party transactions

Apart from those separately disclosed in the financial
statements, the other material related party transactions for
the year are summarised as follows:

(@) fees income for services provided to related parties
included advisory and project services amounting to
HK$11,902,000 (2024: HK$11,616,000) and frequency
assignment and protection services amounting to
HK$15,432,000 (2024: HK$15,226,000);

(b) expenses for services received from related parties
included accommodation, repairs and maintenance, legal
advice, central administration and auditing. In total, the
Fund incurred HK$26,410,000 (2024: HK$26,859,000)
on these services; and

(c) property, plant and equipment acquired from related
parties included motor vehicles. The total amount of
these fixed assets amounted to HK$766,000 (2024:
HK$328,000).

Services provided by or to related parties were charged at
the rates payable by the general public where such services
were also available to members of the public, or on a full cost
recovery basis where such services were only available to
related parties. Fixed assets supplied by related parties were
charged at full cost.

Balances with related parties as at 31 March 2025 are set out
in the statement of financial position.
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21. Financial risk management

(a)

()

Investment policy

To provide an ancillary source of income, surplus cash
is invested in a portfolio of financial instruments. The
portfolio includes fixed deposits and placement with
the Exchange Fund. It is the Fund’s policy that all
investments in financial instruments should be principal-
protected.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Fund does not have significant exposure to
currency risk as substantially all of its financial
instruments are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial
instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause
the other party to incur a financial loss.

The Fund’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
placement with the Exchange Fund, trade and other
receivables, amounts due from related parties, interest
receivables, bank deposits and bank balances. The Fund
has a credit policy in place and the exposure to these
credit risks is monitored on an ongoing basis.

Chapter 7 | Financial Results
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(BR1FEYEEEESN. » BT £ 4RI B I T TS ©) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

21. BABRAEIR (18) 21. Financial risk management (continued)

() 1EERREGE) (c) Creditrisk (continued)

AEEREEERR - FIETHER To minimise credit risks, all fixed deposits are placed
BERREBNIFHEERT - EEES with licensed banks in Hong Kong. The Fund’s exposure
FrEHNEERMRERAER © B8 to credit risk is considered to be limited. The loss
BIERIEEER12E B TaEEEE allowances are measured at amounts equal to 12-month
BRSBTS CERSTTEHE expected credit losses, which are assessed to be
BIAREK immaterial by the Fund.
BiBE R ERIEE R - B1TE The credit quality of bank deposits and bank balances,
AEEITRERNEEEREYNT ¢ analysed by the ratings designated by Moody’s or their

equivalent, is shown below:

FEFR : Credit rating:
Aal = Aa3 Aal to Aa3 316,071
A1 E A3 Alto A3 367,600
Baal = Baa3 Baal to Baa3 23,700
st Total 707,371

HAHMEMEEBNSHERT While other financial assets are subject to the
B EREEGHTHETEHEEHER impairment requirements, the Fund has estimated that
1 FtRAESIEEEEIR - their expected credit losses are minimal and considers

that no loss allowance is required.

CEESHNEHMEETRSANES The maximum exposure to credit risk of the financial
EERMEENZEENIREE - assets of the Fund at the reporting date is equal to their
carrying amounts.

93 BEE | BEKR
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21. Financial risk management (continued)

(d)

(e)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities.

The Fund manages liquidity risk by forecasting the
amount of cash required and monitoring the working
capital of the Fund to ensure that all liabilities due and
known funding requirements could be met. As the Fund
has a strong liquidity position, it has a very low level of
liquidity risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. This can
be further classified into fair value interest rate risk and
cash flow interest rate risk.

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair
value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. Since all of the
Fund’s bank deposits bear interest at fixed rates, their
fair values will fall when market interest rates increase.
However, as they are all stated at amortised cost,
changes in market interest rates will not affect their
carrying amounts and the Fund’s profit / loss for the
year.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Fund’s exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk is small as it has no major
floating-rate investments.

Chapter 7 | Financial Results
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21. Financial risk management (continued)

22,

(f)

Other financial risk

The Fund is exposed to financial risk arising from
changes in the interest rate on the placement with the
Exchange Fund which is determined every January
(note 11). As at 31 March 2025, it is estimated that an
increase / decrease of 50 basis points in the interest
rate, with all other variables held constant, would
have decreased / increased the loss for the year by
HK$2,649,000 (2024: HK$2,554,000).

Fair value

All financial instruments are stated in the statement of
financial position at amounts equal to or not materially
different from their fair values.

Possible impact of amendments, new standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2025

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,

the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new

standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for
the year ended 31 March 2025 and which have not been
early adopted in these financial statements. These include

the following which may be relevant to the Fund. The new

standards include:
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22. Possible impact of amendments, new standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2025 (continued)

U TR %
RIS SIS

Effective for accounting

periods beginning
on or after

EBUTSIREAERNE18%8 ISR KRTIRM
WE

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and
Disclosure in Financial
Statements”

20274F1H1H

1 January 2027

EERSRIEFEERRNEBM RS
ZERE 18R HRA TSR AIRER & ©

ERMBFIREERE 1858 THAFERKTR
I EE

EEMBREENE18FMINAETHGHE
AIE1E TRAFSIRRIIR - MEERER
BiEERA R/GHEE RS - BFER
o UREHBEEEEERNERE
BB AFRE - EEEZHFTE
ZEAHREMBRENZETE - ZHE
Ai§R2027 F 1B 1 Bz B ARG FTHR
£ WEHEMERER - FRIFNER
AT [RIAEHIIRERAT - EER
EERBRAREEENBHNFRAER
ZE]l) o

The Fund is in the process of assessing the possible impact
on its financial statements of HKFRS 18 in the period of
initial application.

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements”

HKFRS 18, which replaces HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements”, introduces new requirements for presentation
of specified categories and subtotals in the statement of
comprehensive income, aggregation and disaggregation of
information, as well as disclosures related to management-
defined performance measures. The Fund is yet to assess the
full impact of the standard on its financial statements. The
new standard is effective for accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2027 and will be applied retrospectively
with restatement of comparatives unless impracticable. At
this stage, the Fund does not intend to adopt the standard
before its effective date.
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ERREEHANEAR

Telecommunications Regulatory Affairs

(#=E2025F3H31H) Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2025)
FE Chairman
HEERE ) ) Mr Esmond CHIU
BAEREERNAEBNEREEEE (BH) Deputy Director-General (Telecommunications), OFCA
s Secretary
BIKZRE Mr Sidney TSAN
EEREERRAEMIERE RE) Assistant Director (Regulatory), OFCA
£8 Members
ffRiELE Mr Michael KAN Kin Hang
HEEZEEMAR Representative of Consumer Council
PRESIE TF2Em Ir George CHAN Chi Fung
ERIEMBEAR Representative of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
FE(ZkE Mr Ben LI

TREEHZZEERDEAR

Representative of The Institution of Engineering and Technology
Hong Kong

BRELE Mr Alex WONG

EEBREHRESAR Representative of Communications Association of Hong Kong
LRfeRE Mr Francis FONG

EEEAREEEAR Representative of Hong Kong Information Technology Federation
KREELL Ms Noel CHU Wing Ka

FEREEBERATNRR Representative of China Mobile Hong Kong Company Limited
REXKE Mr Karson NG

FEEEEFERATRER Representative of China Telecom Global Limited

2ELT Ms Lillian LIU Xing

FREEE (B8) EERRATINR Representative of China Unicom (Hong Kong) Operations Limited
REBRKE Mr Dickson IP Hon Chung

EBEE (F8) GRARRK Representative of ComNet Telecom (HK) Limited

2msxE Mr LAW Jia

2 BEEEERARRR Representative of Easy Tone Network Limited

SRERRVE Miss Katherine KWOK

R BEAERAERE Representative of HGC Global Communications Limited
Emmzt Ms Sophia YAP

EERIERIEERAE EBRBEREARERAE
BERRBERARERERARNK

Representative of Hong Kong Broadband Network Limited/HKBN
Enterprise Solutions Limited/HKBN Enterprise Solutions HK Limited

PRIESCSTE Mr Raymond CHAN

ERERERBELARE Representative of Hong Kong Cable Television Limited

REXERE . Mr Kevin CHU

Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited /& #&E5E Representative of Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited/
EFR/AE K&Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited/ PCCW-HKT Telephone Limited and Hong Kong Telecommunications

BAERIRIRER (F8) ARARAEK

HEst Ms HUI Bik Kiu
52 EFEHBRAT, Genius Brand Limited{ % Representative of Hutchison Telephone Company Limited/
Genius Brand Limited

(HKT) Limited/PCCW Global (HK) Limited
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Telecommunications Regulatory Affairs

Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2025) (continued)

SwkE Mr Patrick NG

NTT Com Asia Limitedft{ % Representative of NTT Com Asia Limited

LOFSEr S Mr OR Tin Lun

SmarTone Communications Limited Representative of SmarTone Communications Limited/
HIEEENERATINRE SmarTone Mobile Communications Limited

BEEELLE Mr Walter NGAN Hing Wah
LREENEEERARMRE Representative of Towngas Telecommunications Fixed Network Limited
fAEERE Mr Terence HO Chi Kai

TraxComm Limitedf{z® Representative of TraxComm Limited

ERRat Ms Clio IP Suk Han

HMHEZBRATRE Representative of Village Telephone Limited

BRELRE Mr Tony TSANG Ka Po

tie i ERARATARRE Representative of VNET Group Limited

thiEERE Mr HU Haining

Vodafone Enterprise Hong Kong Limitedf{Z Representative of Vodafone Enterprise Hong Kong Limited
Mr David Ong Mr David ONG

Xenith IG Hong Kong Limited {3 Representative of Xenith IG Hong Kong Limited
PRERZERE Mr CHAN Tung Leong

fREMmXE WHAEERE FhEEm RN

Representative of Unified Carrier (External Fixed Services) Licensees
as a group

284+ Ms Lillian LIU Xing
EN RS EE R AR Representative of Mobile Virtual Network Operators (MVNOs) as a group
HigsaEE Mr Tony LAM Hoi Keung

HABARTSZ e R AT Representative of External Telecommunications Services (ETS) Operators

as a group

.

FHRE
ARESE PR IR R P SR AR

Mr YU Yang
Representative of Services-based Operators (SBO) Licensees as a group

BFAIEE

i 14 AR FIIAARTS, MR M EAREIAREE (BA)
REFEGEBARY B HERREERRBIAR

Mr Derek SO Tsz Cheung

Representative of Localised Wireless Broadband Service/Localised
Wireless Broadband System (Private)/Public Radiocommunications
Service/Wireless Internet of Things Licensees as a group

BEETIZA Ir TANG Chi Wah

ERERBERR Representative of Hong Kong Police Force
HETREEE Mr Ricky CHONG

BRIEFEAL Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis
fAEmEEt Dr Ivan HO

EREEAL Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis
{FHEIE L Dr FU Yaru

EREFEAL Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis
ZImitic+ Ms Katy LAU

EREEAL Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis
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Membership of Advisory Committees

Radio Spectrum and Technical Standards

(#=2025F3H318) Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2025)
FE Chairman
FHukE Mr Wilson S LEE
BHEREERNAEIEEE (31T Assistant Director (Operations), OFCA
WwE Secretary
BREmSTE o o Mr lvan CHAN
EHEREERNAERREMNIIZAM (FFUEE) Senior Telecommunications Engineer (Standards), OFCA
£8 Members
RRRRE Mr Jan CHEUNG Kai Yiu
HEEZEEMNX Representative of Consumer Council
FHAKE . Mr Michael LEE
EERE RBAEMEE | (BRE) KK Representative of EU ICT Council in Hong Kong and Macau
REXELE Dr CHOW Ho Man
EREENRERRE Representative of Hong Kong Productivity Council
BREFATIIZED Ir John CHAN Kwan Wing
EEIEMBENR Representative of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
BRI Dr K F TSANG

TRERHZBEEBIEAR

Representative of The Institution of Engineering and Technology
Hong Kong

RS E MrKLHO

AMERER BB RRRR Representative of Local Industry Associations

HERLE Mr XIE Qiliang

REREEEERATNR Representative of China Mobile Hong Kong Company Limited
AEFRKE Mr Samuel CHAU Ip Sing

SEEE (FR) BRARARE Representative of ComNet Telecom (HK) Limited
MBS Mr Voller LAM

RERZFEFABRLEARE Representative of HGC Global Communications Limited
ERBEE Mr Danny LI

EETIERBERLAE EBRAEEARERIF
BERRBERARERERARNK

Representative of Hong Kong Broadband Network Limited/
HKBN Enterprise Solutions Limited/HKBN Enterprise Solutions
HK Limited

AL

Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited / &# &85
PE/AF] KzHong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited
BABRIRIRETS (F#) BR/2AT], Console Connect (HK)
Limited, /"HKT Global Operation (HK) Limitedf{%

Mr HO Kai Leung

Representative of Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited/
PCCW-HKT Telephone Limited and Hong Kong Telecommunications
(HKT) Limited/PCCW Global (HK) Limited/Console Connect (HK) Limited/
HKT Global Operation (HK) Limited

ERSKE
MEREEEHPEE]Genius Brand Limitedft&R

Mr LAU Tak Man
Representative of Hutchison Telephone Company Limited/
Genius Brand Limited

DIFRE Mr Dennis LAU Yu Hung

Smar:Tong Communications Limited,” Representative of SmarTone Communications Limited/
ISR BRATENRE SmarTone Mobile Communications Limited

Mr Brian Chan Mr Brian CHAN

HiIeEREEBRARRER Representative of VNET Group Limited

"RENXEE Mr Karson NG

Tt At T EERRENEREREERIAR

Representative of Carrier Licensees NOT Providing Domestic Retail Fixed
Services as a group

HEXE
Tt At EERRBNEEEREERIAR

Dr DU Jun
Representative of Carrier Licensees NOT Providing Domestic Retail Fixed
Services as a group
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i3 e Ty VR SNy ok el e = g Radio Spectrum and Technical Standards
(8=20255%38318) (@) Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2025) (continued)

FLEEEE

Tt Ft B EERRBENEEERFERRINAR

PRIEZSTE

BRRERERERARNE

RliEBmosTE

EHERRELEIRATF,Now TV LimitedG[E AT T

HER%E
ERERARARAAE

MERAEE
ERMEERERARAR

=hBARE
HHEEERARAK

BEEE
DAEMBEERRATINAR

G dabed
BRBEHEFRARAR

il
DNEERRARNE

HEXE
fReERE BWHAEERE) FEBRIAR

REEEL
ARES P IR R P 57 Al

(HEERBEREREME RN BB EHE) AL

AEHRE

Hl& (AR E BRSNS EEARES,
EARYIBBRE IR R P SR AR

FEXREEE
RIS AR

HMRESTE
EREREGRANE

SIfERRSTE
EfEAR

MEESRE
BEREHRAX

BREZSE
BRABAER

SREERE
EETANE

PRER ST
[EIES= YN

o e
BEREEAL

Mr HUNG Hing Chu
Representative of Carrier Licensees NOT Providing Domestic Retail Fixed
Services as a group

Mr Raymond CHAN
Representative of i-Cable HOY Limited

Mr Allan KWAN
Representative of HK Television Entertainment Limited/Now TV Limited

Mr Garry KUM Chi Ho
Representative of Television Broadcasts Limited

Mr Paul LAM CK
Representative of Hong Kong Commercial Broadcasting Company Limited

Mr KO Siu Ming
Representative of Metro Broadcast Corporation Limited

Mr CHEN Yun
Representative of APSTAR Alliance Satcom Limited

Mr CHEN Xun
Representative of APT Satellite Company Limited

Ms Vicky WONG Wing Kei
Representative of Asia Satellite Telecommunications Company Limited

Dr DU Jun
Representative of Unified Carrier (External Fixed Services) Licensees
as a group

Dr CHENG Xiaojun
Representative of Services-based Operators (MVNO and ETS Operators
only) Licensees as a group

Mr HEUNG Chit Hei

Representative of Localised Wireless Broadband Service/Public
Radiocommunications Service/Wireless Internet of Things Licensees
as a group

Mr LI Man Kin
Representative of Local Certification Bodies as a group

Mr Johnny SIU Choi Pai
Representative of Amateur Radio Societies as a group

Mr LAU Kin Hei
Representative of Civil Aviation Department

Mr SHIU Wai Kay
Representative of Hong Kong Police Force

Mr Henry CHAN Hing Wan
Representative of Independent Commission Against Corruption

Ms CHU Chung Kwan
Representative of Radio Television Hong Kong

Mr CHAN Shing Pun
Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis

Prof DAI Lin
Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis
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Membership of Advisory Committees

BRFRAP REEEEHNEET Telecommunications Users and Consumers
(8=202553H831R) Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2025)
e Chairman
BIEERE ) _ ] Mr Esmond CHIU
EAEREERNAEBNEREEE (BN Deputy Director-General (Telecommunications), OFCA
= Secretary
BEALL . Ms Jamay WONG
BEREERRATHEEEHIEE Head of Consumer Affairs, OFCA
£8 Members
BFELL Ms Liza FUNG Tsz Yan
HEEZEERR Representative of Consumer Council
B E Mr Daniel CHUNG
EEBREHEAR Representative of Communications Association of Hong Kong
FrEEE Mr Fred SHEU
EFEEEmEAR Representative of The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce
FHESRE Mr Keith LI
ERERRERERE Representative of Hong Kong Wireless Technology Industry Association
ReREE Mr Michael LAI Cheuk Pun
FRNBI AR Representatives of Small and Medium Enterprises
BREGRAE Mr Henry LIN Ting Kit
BERBRE Representative of Education Bureau
REXEE Mr Johnny YUEN Man Kwong
RERBEHRR Representative of the Aged Community
SEERREE Mr CHUNG Chi Ming
BRATRE Representative of the Disabled Community
EBBRERE Mr Tsan SIU Yat Chan
BRATRAR Representative of the Disabled Community
EEERRTE Mr Arthur AU Hue Yeung
DRATHRE Representative as a Member of the Public
BREMREE Mr CHAN Kin Lun
DNRATRE Representative as a Member of the Public *
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EMRBRARREEEARNEST

Telecommunications Users and Consumers

(#=2025%3831H) (@) Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2025) (continued)

RHEL LT Ms Carol CHEUNG

DNBRATRE Representative as a Member of the Public
FFIfESE Mr HUI Lap Tak

NBRATRE Representative as a Member of the Public
SFEmEE Mr Raphael HUI

NBRATRE Representative as a Member of the Public
IREBRE Mr KONG Tin Chun

DRATHE Representative as a Member of the Public
EIE T | Miss Natalie KWOK Kavin

DRATHE Representative as a Member of the Public
[ idest | Miss KWONG Suet Wing

DRATHE Representative as a Member of the Public
EIES TN | Miss LAO lok Teng

DRATHE Representative as a Member of the Public
BEXRE Mr MUI Chi Man

NBMATHE Representative as a Member of the Public
1REAER L Dr YEUNG Rigil Kent

DRATHE Representative as a Member of the Public
RESLL Ms Avon YUE Nga Fong

DRATHE Representative as a Member of the Public
FRiEFIEL - MH - JP Dr Jason CHAN Kai Yue, MH, JP
BRIZEFEAL Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis
MEERELT Dr Jonathan TANG Kin Wa

EREFEAL Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis

* EREFEERBFAERE
* Appointed through the Member Self-recommendation Scheme
for Youth
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Appendix C Performance Pledge
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1£2024 255 E » HFERIS4IEREHEERY In 2024/25, we achieved/surpassed all performance targets
BHARFSRIEEE - 2025 26 FENEERERIRE in our 54 job areas. The full list of our performance targets for
EFETAT © 2025/26 are also set out in the table below.

HPIRHENRBKFEREZE LZZBRHABERRE  The level of service we provide is influenced to some extent
CHEN TEEXE - TEEELERRER  HMABZ by exceptional circumstances and workloads during peak
TERRFEST AL T TR A ERIR AR ¢ periods. The following table takes these factors into account

and sets out the standard service delivery times we aim to

achieve for a wide range of services.

BR7E 2024 255 2024 25EEMRBBRFAE 2024 25FF 2025, 26 5 EAFAE ERITEFRY
Services EERERN  (FIEBEENEAR)  RETORBRR  (SRNARBRRONE)
Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average Service Delivery Standard

Standard for (% meeting service Performance in (Performance Target) for
2024/25 standard) for 2024/25 2024/25 2025/26

FRIR R AR TS N IR R SR

Processing of Broadcasting Service Licence Applications

SR RABER
Ei z 5 z
Non-domestic Television Programme cﬁths 100% n%ﬁnfﬁ{fe Eﬂths (100%)

Service/Other Licensable Television
Programme Service

RRIBEARFBEIRREE, B5

Processing of Telecommunications Service Licence Applications/Registrations

Mobile Radio System Licence
E&;#[ﬁ%&]}ént of a new system 3 o%(?;ﬁgateiays 98% 100% 3 Eo?kmsgidays (98%)
:g = i [SEFEY
]Ife%c/m?gﬁ%d%%nnof base station 3 ﬁoﬁi{’nﬁﬁays 98% 100% 3 ﬁoﬁﬁ;ﬁavs (98%)
MERBENE
Addition of moblle station
== WS
o HEEE ey 99% 100% S s (99%)
L
o iBE B days 99% 100% s (99%)
EREHELSRS
Replacement of mobile station equipment
-T2 L
o HEEE o T ays 99% 100% S s (99%)
H = L
o SHBE T ays 99% 100% s (99%)
HhEL =
%g%c%m?n?o?b%aga;tation equipment Oﬁrnﬁgagavs 99% 100% ﬁoﬁﬁgﬁays (99%)
%ﬁ%ﬁff licence ﬁoﬁ(i{;ﬁgﬁays 9 9 % 100% 8 Eoﬁ(msg;%ays (99%)
g 3
amme WS | 99% 100% | A% (99%)
IT% - -HBRBEETFHEEE
Industrial,agcienti_fjiLc and Medical ﬁﬁi{fgagays 99% 100% Eo%(ﬁgigays (99%)
Electronic Machines Licence
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RS 2024, 255 F 2024, 25F ERBRIRAE 2024, 255 2025, 265 EIEHERITHFRD

Services BRI (EIRBRENESE) ERTURBRR  (ERAARERREN
Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average Service Delivery Standard
Standard for (% meeting service Performance in (Performance Target) for
2024/25 standard) for 2024/25 2024/25 2025/26

RIETMIRBERRAGE S ()

Processing of Telecommunications Service Licence Applications/Registrations (continued)

TGBAEAES - RIER B
B e 99% 100% s (99%)

Radio Determination and Conveyance of
Commands, Status and Data Licence

FETRLAXRER

Satellite Master Antenna Television
Licence

T 115555 98% 100% | 118565, (98%)

L4 New application

ol 1155 98% 100% | 118565, (98%)

® Renewal
Sl 2N
MEREMR BT, 99% 100% | 9B, (99%)
Sl AN
REBEMR i 99% 100% | 9EHEX,. (99%)
BEBENENRGIRE 8
Self-provi:&d EXt:rnaI 26 o:r%:'lﬁg%days 99% f\l%ﬁniwfe 26 1vl\}iloﬁ?;ﬁgailays (99%)
Telecommunications System Licence
RIS M RRER
Services-based Operators Licence
GRS o
Response to new application
o BEREIEWE | 4EI0X 98% 100% | 14856%,. (98%)
o BIEES 13850%, 99% 100% | 1385%,. (99%)
%Eﬁ%g%ﬁfrﬁisue of licence ﬂ%ﬁths 98% 100% 3 1nIEIcEths (98%)
weExEER
Unified Carrier Licence
R@eﬁﬁiﬁf) new application 5 j/l\?o:tl‘irnﬁgagays 98% 100% 5 y?oﬁ(?:lﬁgagays (98%)

DHMRE BN IR ER

Public Radiocommunications
Service Licence

R@e?;ﬁigi new application Oﬁ?:lﬁgatiiays 98% i%ﬁnfﬁv{fe &ao:l!iﬁga(aiays (98%)
%E)ﬁ%gléﬁfﬁsue of licence ﬂﬁEcEths 9 8% ﬁoﬁnf’ﬁ%fe 4 ﬂ?oﬁths (98%)
EARMIEERR R
Wireless Internet of Things Licence
R oAt new application g aays 98% ot e (98%)
%Igﬁ?/ziéﬁiﬁisue of licence cﬁths 9 8% @%ﬁnfﬂi 4 ﬁﬁths (98%)
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RS 2024, 255 F 2024 25 ERFERITEIE 2024 25FE 2025, 265 EIEHERITHFRD

Services BRI (EIRBRENESE) ERTURBRR  (ERAARERREN
Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average Service Delivery Standard
Standard for (% meeting service Performance in (Performance Target) for
2024/25 standard) for 2024/25 2024/25 2025/26

RIETMIRBERRAGE S ()

Processing of Telecommunications Service Licence Applications/Registrations (continued)

mERES R BITIEX 28%

Aircraft Station Licence working days

100% |5~ (98%)

RREEE | 158 (98%)

EREERERESE 1 BIT{ER 98%

Broadcast Radio Relay Station Licence working days

BIEEWR (3X) BR

Hotel Television (Transmission) Licence

o T ication 1585 % 98% 100% | 1585, (98%)
[ ] Eﬁeﬁiwal 111?0%(!;E§jays 98% 100% 11 Eo%(ng%days (98%)
R EMIRFSEN SR — 55
Class Licen: for Offer of Telecommunications 1 oﬁﬁ?ﬁays 9 9 % 100% 14 1vlglo%(?;'zgaf:lays (9 9 %)

Services - Registration

R AR RSB ER
e 1455 99%

Class Licence for Provision of Public Wireless
Local Area Network Services - Registration

100% | 148565 (99%)

HORAOFFIE
Import and Export Permit

RiERUIRSH S
P = FRBD B B
B U EREE
FEARBIELIER
Immediately over
counter upon payment
by cash or EPS, or
3 working days by

98%

100%

RiERUIR S5

W= (3 FRED B ¢
FAIMFIMEL (o)
Immediately over (98/0)
counter upon payment

by cash or EPS, or

3 working days by

cheques or PPS cheques or PPS
T3 ;
BEEAR S\Eiaizqthe same day 98% 100% \E/\I}iEi?the same day (98%)

Transhipment Notification

RiR (A - HBAMEVHFEBIRD

ni) ERIEHEAE R IR

Processing of Certificate and Endorsement Applications under the International Convention on Standards of
Training, Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers (STCW Convention)

2B LBRNT2RNEEE R
Global Maritime Distress and Safety
System (GMDSS) Certificate and
Endorsement

BITEX

working days

95%

100%

Siadidas (95%)

2B LERNZ2RREEER
ERRE R

GMDSS Certificate of Equivalent
Competency and Endorsement

BI{EX

working days

95%

REHEZR

No new case

s (95%)

BRETERAE
Investlgatlon of Radio Interference
, TESETIERA TE6ETIERA

HEERBNTE ETRE 96% 100% ETRE (96%)
Interference on commercial services Investigation within Investigation within

6 working days 6 working days

EMETIERA EIETIERA
HERRENTE ETRE 96% 100% ETRE (9 6%)
Interference on broadcasting services Investigation within Investigation within

9 working days 9 working days
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BR#E 2024, 255 2024,/ 25 ERRFFRFEIZE 2024/255513 2025, 264 EAE 4 RITRF R

Services WERIERR (EIRBRENESE) ERTURBRR  (ERAARERREN
Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average Service Delivery Standard
Standard for (% meeting service Performance in (Performance Target) for
2024/25 standard) for 2024/25 2024/25 2025/26

ERIESRER, FEESERER

Processing of Applications for Numbers/Codes

IEACE RIS R FES
Assignment of telecommunications
numbers and codes

BI{EX

working days

fBT{ER

working days

90% 100% (90%)

T « RIBIHEZRENENR
Checking, processing and acceptance of
return of telecommunications numbers

REAMREER (B (I 56 - (ERGAD - (FEFEE) FIAD « FEEEERGEME R
NERESTNEREEHR

1 BI{EX

working days

100% 100%

1 BT{ER

working days

(100%)

Handling of Complaints about Broadcasting Matters involving Suspected Breach of the Broadcasting
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance, the Broadcasting Ordinance, Part IlIA of the Telecommunications
Ordinance, the terms or conditions of a Broadcasting Licence, or the Broadcasting Codes of Practice

BTN EE

Issue of an interim reply

BT X

working days

BT {ER

working days

98% 100% (98%)

MEBARENERENIZRA
BRER @ (SINKRAER
/R MRRERARSER)

Inform complainants of results of cases
not involving an investigation Note®

(or report of progress to the complainant
if results of cases are not ready)

BEH

weeks

B2

weeks

98% 100% (98%)

w B E T ERERRE
IR ABRBHRAIER @O
(MK EBERNRRIER - AR

ERAIREERE)
Inform complainants of CA’s
decision on complaints involvin

(EE]

weeks

98%

99.9%

B2

weeks

(98%)

a straightforward investigation §‘°‘*~‘ B)
(or report of progress to the
complainant if CA’s decision is

not ready)

REEETERRENIRHE

iR A BB RAIEIR 22
(SENRFBARAIFR - A

ERAIREERE)

Inform complainants of CA’s

decision on complaints involving

a complex investigation Mot B

(or report of progress to the

complainant if CA’s decision is

not ready)

4 s 98% 100% | 485  (98%)

REEAAEMEMHIRRER (8
$ERERSY)

Handling of Consumer Complaints against Telecommunications Operators (except for complaints relating to
Section 7Q of the Telecommunications Ordinance) involving Suspected Breach of the Telecommunications
Ordinance or Licence Conditions of the Telecommunications Service Licences

SRR SNEBARBEREHREEERR BIF (BHAGAD H7QEH

FFHEEIERERA (SHANKRAERHE
B - e FMHEE)

Full reply to complainant (or interim
reply if full reply is not ready)

2 BI{EX

working days

90% 100%

2 BT{ER

working days

(90%)
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BR#E 2024, 255 2024,/ 25 ERRFFRFEIZE 2024/255513 2025, 264 EAE 4 RITRF R

Services WERIERR (EIRBRENESE) ERTURBRR  (ERAARERREN
Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average Service Delivery Standard
Standard for (% meeting service Performance in (Performance Target) for
2024/25 standard) for 2024/25 2024/25 2025/26

RIEM (B B7QiRRENENREEMEIELRER

gacrlm_dllng of Enquiries and Complaints against Operators relating to Section 7Q of the Telecommunications
rdinance

HMETEE (KA - .
I - AEFO5ER) 14 mremn 90% 100% | 14mxexn  (90%)

For enquiries, issue full reply (or interim working days working days
reply if full reply is not ready,

BRI 0 (GRuRmEE | . .
EIE - AT EE) 17 e 90% ganeE 1omeen (90%)

For complaints, issue full reply ™Nete® (or weeks weeks
interim reply if full reply is not ready)

EEEE&;;‘%%ME& ER (BHAEG) NEARBERGAERRR BF (ENEF) F7QiE

Handling of Industry Complaints against Operators (except for complaints relating to Section 7Q of the
Telecommunications Ordinance) involving Suspected Breach of the Telecommunications Ordinance or
Licence Conditions of the Telecommunications Services Licences

STRYEEHIAE (SRUNRTTREEM
AE > AIFRIRERARSERE)
Completion of full investigation (or

report of progress to the complainant if
full investigation is not completed)

REEAAEREREBARBISBAERER (MaRBEG) NATEREXNERRIZHR

REHER
No new case

Within
4 BLTERA

working days

Z'th'"ﬂaﬂ'ﬁaew (90%)

working days

Handling of Enquiries and Complaints against Broadcasting and Telecommunications Licensees on Suspected
Contravention of the Fair Trading Sections of the Trade Descriptions Ordinance

HEEESH (WANKREERHE

I ote Within ) 0, Within
EE - e FMHEE) BITEXRR 90% 100% 7 IR (90%)
For enquiries, issue full reply (or interim working days working days
reply if full reply is not readyy
BNSKAERUIS SRR AR R - s sl
B3 ER A 5% HH (Bl SR BRI BB AN Within 90(y 100(y b (9 O(y)
Fr?r compllaints, isfsu;]e case progrless to gcrmgwlseu g%rrln ont Y (Y gcrl?r?gvtvtllg é;g%%\ent 0
the complainant if the case result is v
not ready (c)lf) rrnes:lgllrr)]tt of the 2; r:%l:.lgtt of the

REAAEEREMRAXGERERER (RFEEH) NEHRIRH

Handling of Enquiries and Complaints against Undertakings in the Broadcasting and Telecommunications
Sectors on Suspected Contravention of the Competition Ordinance

BEEEEN (ke . .
E)7E - Al FHFEE) 14 BTtz 90% 100% | 14mxte=m (90%)

For enquiries, issue full reply (or interim working days working days
reply if full reply is not ready)

HAEIERER @0 (SRANKHEESE Wit ‘ it
HIELE - AR T4 EE) g mT iR 90% Qs ogerexs  (90%)

For complaints, issue full reply Note®) working days working days
(or interim reply if full reply is not ready)
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EERETHWEE

RS 2024, 255 F 2024 25 ERFERITEIE 2024 25FE 2025, 265 EIEHERITHFRD

Services BRI (EIRBRENESE) ERTURBRR  (ERAARERREN
Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average Service Delivery Standard
Standard for (% meeting service Performance in (Performance Target) for
2024/25 standard) for 2024/25 2024/25 2025/26

REARMRRER (FEBETFARUEE) HBEE

Handling of Reports on the Suspected Contravention of the Unsolicited Electronic Messages Ordinance

STRYEEHIAE (SRUNRTTREEM
AZE - AIFRIRERARSERE)
Completion of full investigation (or

re Fort of progress to the complainant if
| investigation is not completed)

Within
10 B2

weeks

10®=en  (90%)

weeks

HAEMEMNRZEN R REARIZRFLOE

Reply to Public Enquiries and Complaints of OFCA'’s Services

HMEESN (RkMRREE | Wit
B - TS EE) @TFR 90% 100% mrezen (90%)

Full reply for enquiries (or interim reply working days working days
if full reply cannot be provided)

peasy o
HAE - BlmigsE HiEE Within Within
Full reply for complaints (or report 1 BLIEXRA 90% 100% 1 BIAERA (90%)

of progress to the complainant if full working days I R
investigation is not completed)

A WERRBEUENRMRMEE—SRE  BRNERENEREA

Note A OFCA will issue a letter to the applicant if its application can be referred to the Civil Aviation Department for further processing.

5B HUEEIRER AR RSB RIEST -

Note B Upon receipt of sufficient information from complainants.
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Appendix D

ZH B EERES
RSB RBREREE

(B FE2025543831HFERN)

WREREE

W RR R B iR

Licences Issued and Renewed

Broadcasting and Telecommunications Licences

Issued / Renewed and Revenue Collected
(For the year ended 31 March 2025)

he fEEEE
No. of Licences
Issued / Renewed

Type of Licences

[RHBREER
FRE WEEBRDE RE
FEAEBIREN B ARES
HAthArRhE EIRE B AR
BEER

BRI EE

R SARE

fzEssEn

EERIRIEIRIEEA

EBREL
EREERBEREES
HHEEhRER
EEMERETE
BERES
B, WHNEEARES
BIEETR (35X)

AR/ HOFFAIE

[—l-cFAN
BT

I% HERBEEFSEM

mBBRTS
TAREREETRR
NHEEREENIRES
EIRED (REFRF)
EREBNER
EREREURIES

HEERLAXR
BRI EANRS

\RER R EX

BRFSE P8 55 —1HE 55 — RARTS
BRFS S RE 58 = AR
fefE S

A EXE

BT EREENRES
PSRRI E S
EIRYINHE, R ER AR
HhlE MR RIRRE (B

1@ B/

=r

=

hF=4

Broadcasting Licences

Domestic Free / Pay Television Programme Service 4
Non-domestic Television Programme Service 9
Other Licensable Television Programme Service 21
Sound Broadcasting 2

Telecommunications Licences / Permits / Certificates

Aeronautical VHF Fixed Station 34
Aircraft Station 477
Amateur ATO 796
Amateur Station 2,719
Broadcast Radio Relay Station 10
Duplicate Licence 230
Examination & Issue of Certificate 1,273
Experimental Station 64
Fixed Internal / External Services 52
Hotel Television (Transmission) 172
Import / Export Permit 689
Industrial, Scientific & Medical Electronic Machine 2,421
Mobile Radio System or Private Mobile Radio System 2,898
Mobile Services 8
Private Radio Paging System 3
Public Radiocommunications Service 6
Radio Dealers (Unrestricted) 4,830
Radiocommunications School 7
Radiodetermination and Conveyance of Commands, Status and Data 173
Satellite Master Antenna Television 62
Self-provided External Telecommunications System 8
Services-based Operator of Class 1 or 2 Service 24
Services-based Operator of Class 3 Service 347
Ship Station 4,540
Space Station Carrier 10
Taxi Radiocommunications Service 9
Wide Band Link & Relay Station 44
Wireless Internet of Things / Localised Wireless Broadband Service / 7

Localised Wireless Broadband System (Private)

26,544,062
525,580
686,700

10,542,067

51,000
66,213
127,360
403,487
8,250
12,650
222,535
20,000
105,777,955
711,267
103,500
190,446
28,784,797
201,655,059
4,250
976,269
7,051,500
2,100
185,793
4,449,537
5,813
1,810,626
19,794,885
707,800
1,500,000
261,933
109,200
736,400
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BASHEEERMLE
OFFICE OF THE
— COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY

BNEEEERNRAE
Office of the Communications Authority

Mtk Address : EABFERKER21IFARKE29E

29/F Wu Chung House, 213 Queen’s Road East,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

EHEER Enquiry Hotline : 2961 6333
#Aik Website : www.ofca.gov.hk
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